# Wilfrid Laurier University Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2016

# The Nature of Resident Participation in the Exploration and Installation Stages of the Implementation of a Community-based Primary Prevention Program for Young Children

Jessica S. Noble Ms. Wilfrid Laurier University, nobl6040@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholars.wlu.ca/etd



Part of the Community Psychology Commons

# Recommended Citation

Noble, Jessica S. Ms., "The Nature of Resident Participation in the Exploration and Installation Stages of the Implementation of a Community-based Primary Prevention Program for Young Children" (2016). Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive). 1821. http://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1821

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

The Nature of Resident Participation in the Exploration and Installation Stages of the Implementation of a Community-based Primary Prevention Program for Young Children

by

# Jessica Noble

Master's Degree, Wilfrid Laurier University, 2016

Thesis

Submitted to the Department of Psychology in partial fulfillment of the requirements for Master of Arts in Community Psychology Wilfrid Laurier University

© Jessica Noble, 2016

#### Abstract

Resident participation is a vital factor and key prerequisite to the planning, development and implementation of community-driven projects. Early implementation evaluations, especially during the planning stages of project development, are critical to ensuring effective resident participation. Understanding the nature of resident participation, including the activities involved, facilitators, barriers, and outcomes of engagement, is essential for laying the foundation for program success and sustainability. This study was an implementation evaluation of a small community-based initiated project that examined resident participation, varying by degrees of involvement throughout the early stages of implementation. The sample (N = 11)consisted of three service-providers, two highly-engaged residents, four less-engaged residents and two project staff. The qualitative data analysis found that during the exploration stage, highly-engaged residents and service-providers participated in similar activities. However, as the implementation process progressed into the following installation stage, highly-engaged residents expressed desires to reduce involvement and responsibilities, while project staff, service-providers and those less involved wished to remain as involved or increase participation. Additionally, findings revealed that project challenges were perceived differently by residents, regardless of level of involvement, than by service-providers and project staff. The findings of this study produced recommendations for increasing facilitators and reducing barriers to resident participation during the early stages of an implementation process of a community-based project.

# Acknowledgements

To begin, I would like to thank the institution and faculty of Wilfrid Laurier University for supporting and guiding me during the completion of my Master's degree. I would also like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Colleen Loomis, for her words of encouragement, mentorship, and compassion throughout my academic career. Additionally, thank you to Dr. Geoff Nelson and Dr. Julian Hasford for serving on my internal committee and guiding me through this evaluation research study. I am also extremely grateful towards the team members involved in this implementation project for allowing me into their community with open arms and would like to thank them for the learning opportunities I received and relationships that blossomed. Finally, I would like to thank the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council for funding this early implementation evaluation.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
Resident Participation in Community-Based Project Implementation	1
Implementation Research	1
Implementation Stages	3
Exploration stage.	4
Installation stage.	5
Initial implementation stage	5
Full implementation stage.	6
Resident Participation	
A Community-based Model for Positive Child Development	
Guiding principles of Better Beginnings	
Better Beginnings' model variations and evaluation outcomes	
Research Objectives and Rationale	
Rationale for this study.	
Research objectives	
Table 1	16
Method	18
Context	18
Standpoint as a Researcher	19
Research Paradigm	
Research Design and Sampling Strategies	
Sample	
Instruments: Interview Guide, Field Notes, and List of Activities	
Procedure	
Data Analysis	
Establishing the quality of data	
Ethics	30
Findings	30
Exploration Stage	32
Research Question #1a: In what types of activities do the most involved and less invol	ved
residents participate during the exploration stage?	32
Research Question #2a: What are the facilitators of resident participation for the most	
involved and less involved residents during the exploration stage?	
Research Question #3a: What are the barriers to resident participation for the most inv	
and less involved residents during the exploration stage?	38
Research Question #4a: What are the outcomes of resident participation for the most	
involved and less involved residents during the exploration stage?	
Installation Stage	42

Research Question #1a: In what types of activities do the most involved and less involved	d
residents participate during the installation stage?	
Research Question #2a: What are the facilitators of resident participation for the most	
involved and less involved residents during the exploration stage?	44
Research Question #3a: What are the barriers to resident participation for the most inv	olved
and less involved residents during the installation stage?	48
Research Question #4a: What are the outcomes of resident participation for the most	
involved and less involved residents during the installation stage?	56
Comparing Findings by Implementation Stages, Levels of Engagement and Status	
Research Question #1b. Did activities vary by degree of involvement and/or implement	ıtation
stage?	61
Research Question #2b. Did facilitators vary by degree of involvement and/or	
implementation stage?	
Research Question #3b. Did barriers vary by degree of involvement and/or implement	
stage?	62
Research Question #4b. Did outcomes vary by degree of involvement or implementation	
stage?	63
Discussion	63
Objective A. To understand the types of activities in which residents participated in the	
exploration and installation stages	63
Objective B. To understand the facilitators and barriers to resident participation in the	
exploration and installation stages	64
Objective C. To understand the impacts of resident participation during exploration and	
installation stages on the individual residents, the project, and the community	
Limitations	
Knowledge Transfer	
Implications	71
Appendices	73
Appendix A: Exploration Stage Focus Group Guide	
Appendix B: Installation Stage Interview Guide	74
Appendix C: Field Note Observation Guide	75
Appendix D: Adapted Stages of Implementation Completion (ASIC) Diagnostic Too	ol 76
References	81

Resident participation is the voluntarily support of individuals in their community and is noted as crucial to having high quality, locally appropriate services and community projects.

This study examines facilitators, barriers experienced and activities participated in by residents, project staff, and service-providers during the early planning stages of the implementation of a initiated community-based project to support child, family, and community development.

Additionally, the study examines the outcomes of resident participation during the early implementation stages of this community-based project.

# **Resident Participation in Community-Based Project Implementation**

# **Implementation Research**

New approaches and methods have shaped the innovative systems used to enhance community's health and well-being in North America. These innovations, such as prevention and promotion programs, need to be designed with precision at each stage. Program design, however, is only the first step of the implementation process. The effective transfer and sustainability of these innovations into real-world settings requires operating efficiently within the successive, complex stages of program implementation (Dorner et al., 2014; Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Metz & Bartley, 2012). These stages include how well information and evidence about a particular program is conveyed to communities, whether the local context decides to adopt an existing program and/or how to adapt the program, and how well the program is monitored and addresses issues throughout the planning, implementation, and sustainability process (Durlak & DuPre, 2008). Successful implementation is then dependent on the level of adherence to the core components of a proposed program or intervention during these stages (Durlak, 1998). This process of adherence has also been referred to as fidelity or integrity, and is monitored through process evaluation or implementation research (Durlak, 1998).

Previously, evaluation research has focused primarily on end goals and program outcomes rather than examining implementation as a process (Durlak, 1998). However, research has shown that the process of implementation, including adherence to the core components and activities during implementation stages, influences the desired program outcomes (Durlak & DuPre, 2008). Despite this information, less than 5% of over 1200 published prevention studies have provided process data on program implementation (Durlak, 1997; Fixsen, Naoom, Blase, Friedman & Wallace, 2005). Focusing primarily on outcomes overlooks the implementation process and ignores the necessary components required for successful implementation. Without adequate research, the required steps to put a program idea into practice are absent.

Assessing the implementation process is crucial for understanding which components were implemented and the quality of application, as well as providing greater accuracy in interpreting how activities contribute to program outcomes. In addition, process evaluations aid in the identification of emerging challenges and faster application of solutions. Recent research has shown that programs often encounter issues throughout various stages of implementation (Metz & Bartley, 2012). Furthermore, if these concerns are not anticipated or identified they will not be addressed as they emerge, which can hinder the fidelity (adherence to program components), effectiveness, and sustainability of the innovation (Dorner, L., Howard, E., Slapac, A. & Matthews, K., 2014; Metz & Bartley, 2012). Findings from implementation research also aid in the dissemination and transferability of a program to different unique settings and determine how and why it works (Durlak, 1998; Durlak & DuPre, 2008). Recent attention on implementation evaluation research, including logic model development, theory of change elaboration, and fidelity evaluation, has led to the emergence of "implementation science" (Fixsen et al., 2005).

One component of implementation science focuses on understanding the implementation process, which is also important when testing the theory of change guiding the program.

Theories often emphasize the importance of specific components (e.g., resident participation) in order to produce an anticipated change (Fixsen et al., 2005; Renger, R., Bartel, G. & Foltysova, J., 2013). These components must receive adequate assessment to determine the level of intensity and frequency of application throughout the program implementation stages in order to achieve program effectiveness. Evaluation during these implementation stages, especially the planning and early implementation stages, can assist with this process as it aids in identifying and addressing difficulties occurring during specific activities (Dorner et al., 2014; Durlak, 2008; Durlak & DuPre, 2008).

# **Implementation Stages**

Researchers have identified four stages that occur throughout the implementation process, with each stage containing a number of unique decisions and activities (Metz & Bartley, 2012): (1) exploration, (2) installation, (3) initial implementation, and (4) full implementation. These four stages reframe the concept of implementation as a singular, one-time event and articulate it as "a process involving multiple decisions, actions, and corrections to change the structures and conditions through which organizations and systems support, and promote new program models, innovations, and initiatives" (Metz & Bartley, 2012, p. 12). A review conducted by Meyers, Durlak and Wandersman (2012) assessed 25 implementation plans and found that the bulk of the activities during implementation occur in the exploration and installation stages, often before the initial implementation actually begins. This finding shows that evaluating the bulk of key activities during the early planning stages of prevention and

promotion programs may aid in maintaining program fidelity and achieving program success and sustainability.

It is important to note that each stage may not begin and end crisply. Although the stages often occur in the order listed previously, activities from one stage often occur and reoccur with activities from the previous and subsequent stages (Metz & Bartley, 2012; Meyers et al., 2012). Additionally, the timeline between the exploration stage and full implementation varies depending upon the complexity of the program model, baseline groundwork, availability of resources and supports, and other contextual factors (Metz & Bartley, 2012). Nevertheless, it is vital that the stages and activities occur in a specific sequence, especially the early planning stages, in order to ensure that all program components and requirements are being met (Metz & Bartley, 2012; Meyers et al., 2012). The following section describes Metz and Barley's (2012) four stages of program implementation.

Exploration stage. The first stage of implementation begins with the exploration stage. During this stage, various assessment strategies related to organizational needs, program fit, and a readiness assessment is conducted. The first stage primarily aims to examine the ecological fit between the proposed program and the local context (Meyers et al., 2012). During this exploration stage, requirements for implementation must be thoroughly assessed as well as potential barriers. Engagement of key stakeholders, program champions, and "buy-in" from community members and partners are essential throughout this process in order to ensure that community support surrounding the project is formed. It is also important that core components and active ingredients of the program are identified and operational, adhere to the implementation plan and are agreed on by the majority of those involved prior to explicit buy-in from key stakeholders. Once agreement is obtained regarding the fit and feasibility of the

program model in the specific local context and the ability to meet a community's needs are satisfied the project moves from exploration to installation (Metz & Bartley, 2012; Meyers et al., 2012).

Installation stage. Subsequent to the exploration stage is the installation stage that is often overlooked or undervalued during the implementation processes (Metz & Bartley, 2012). This stage requires practical and intentional efforts to initiate the new program and create a structure for implementation, including changes to particular settings and systems of practice. Activities within this stage include acquiring resources, such as physical space and technology, as well as financial and human resources. Clearly, establishing program fidelity components, outcome goals and project timelines is also essential. Finally, developing the competence of residents and practitioners through technical assistance and training is critical during the installation stage in order to ensure programs are implemented with fidelity (Metz & Bartley, 2012; Meyers et al., 2012).

Few studies in program implementation have examined the process of implementation during the exploration and installation stages. These stages include significant planning and preparation that ultimately provide the fundamental groundwork for a project. However, despite the importance of these early planning stages (i.e., exploration and installation stages), researchers often do not begin evaluations until the third stage: the initial implementation stage (Dorner et al., 2014; Fixsen et al., 2005).

**Initial implementation stage.** Following exploration and installation stages is the initial implementation stage in which resident participation is required to initiate a new program. This stage includes an explicit monitoring process of project activities, services and consultation, fidelity monitoring and feedback processes (Metz & Bartley, 2012). Key activities of this stage

involve creating a supportive climate (Meyers et al., 2012) through significant resident engagement, including adjusting for turnover rates and recruiting new volunteers (Pines & Aronson, 1988). Strategies to promote continuous improvement and rapid cycle problemsolving are also vital in the initial implementation stage (Metz & Bartley, 2012). This problemsolving feedback loop aims to assess the implementation process and identify critical issues in order to apply system solutions quickly, rather than allowing problems to re-emerge and reoccur (Metz & Bartley, 2012; Meyers et al., 2012). Within the context of resident participation, this pre-implementation stage is essential to the implementation process and failure to identify and address concerns, such as challenges to resident participation, often results in program failure (Cameron, Peirson & Pancer, 1994; Hayward, Loomis, Nelson, Pancer & Peters, 2011; Metz & Bartley, 2012; Meyers et al., 2012).

Full implementation stage. The final stage is called full implementation and involves the lessons learned from all stages becoming integrated into system settings and practice (Metz & Bartley, 2012). As issues are addressed through solution application, practices and procedures are explicitly defined to sustain the adapted program model. During this stage, sustainability is a major focal point, but will only be successful if consideration of sustainability occurs in prior stages (i.e., during exploration, installation, and initial implementation) (Metz & Bartley, 2012; Meyers et al., 2012). Researchers have recognized that sustainability needs to be an active component from the primary stages of implementation, including securing both financial and programmatic resources (Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Metz & Bartley, 2012). The funding streams need to be established, reliable, and adequate while programmatic resources involve ensuring effective technical assistance and training is in place for the duration of the implementation

project (Metz & Bartley, 2012).

Research and implementation theory show that examining all stages of implementation, including the early stages, aids in program fidelity and ensures programs are adequately implemented in and adapted to the local context. Additionally, individuals residing in the local context and engaging in resident participation serve as resources when ensuring these components effectively meet local needs (Dorner et al., 2014; Fixsen et al., 2005; Hayward et al., 2012).

# **Resident Participation**

In North America, resident participation is the paid or unpaid effort that community members contribute to support to their surrounding environments with the aim of improving conditions (Wandersman, 1984). Residents are defined as individuals living within a specific geographical location and often have a deeper connection and investment in their community than individuals living outside the catchment area. The often voluntary input of residents is essential for the success and sustainability of non-profit and charitable organizations, providing vital services that assist employees with necessary tasks (Allen & Mueller, 2013). In fact, when communities seek funding in order to implement programs in their community, resident participation is often a major prerequisite that must be met in order to be approved (Cameron et al., 1994; Hayward et al., 2011; Pancer & Cameron, 1994).

According to previous research conducted on resident participation in Canada, there are three statuses of residents: volunteer residents, service-provider residents, and staff residents (Cameron et al., 1994; Pancer & Cameron, 1994). Volunteer residents are local community members who are not paid as project staff or employed by a service organization involved in the project, such as parents and retirees. Service-provider residents are local citizens who are

employed by a service organization affiliated with the project, such as school principals and funder representatives. These individuals may have moved into the community because of their job or have been residing there prior to employment. Finally, staff residents are defined as individuals who are employed by the community project and often have lived in the neighbourhood prior to being hired by the project; examples are site coordinators and community researchers.

Residents often engage in hours of paid and unpaid services with the goal of building healthy communities. In Canada, 12.7 million residents, or approximately 1 in 2 Canadians, engage in volunteer work (Statistics Canada, 2015). The majority (66%) of the 1.96 billion hours of uncompensated services provided annually is directed towards the non-profit sector in Canada (Statistics Canada, 2012). More community members committed to volunteering, however, are required to ensure greatest sustainability of programs and organizations (Allen & Mueller 2013).

There are many facilitators and beneficial outcomes of resident participation. Statistics Canada (2012) has identified personal motivations and available time as key factors facilitating resident participation. The primary motivating factor for 93% of volunteers, however, is the desire to contribute to their communities. Over one-half (59%) reported being personally affected by an organization's cause, while over three-quarters (78%) wanted to make use of their skills and experiences (Statistics Canada, 2012). Facilitators to volunteering, as well as time spent doing it, were also influenced by interpersonal relationships. Almost one-half (45%) of non-volunteers reported a lack of involvement because they had not been asked, while nearly three-quarters (68%) reported volunteering because they knew people doing it as well (Statistics Canada, 2012). Residents who are engaged experience opportunities for learning, socialization

and re-entry into the workforce (Casey, 2014; Hayward et al., 2011; Pancer & Cameron, 1994). In addition, resident participation can enhance an individual's quality of life and lifestyle through greater sense of community (Levy, Itzhaky, Zanbar, & Schwartz, 2012; Ohmer, 2007; Peters et al., 2010).

While there are many facilitators and positive outcomes of resident participation, some barriers to it have emerged as well. Lack of time has been identified as the biggest barrier to becoming a volunteer across all Canadians (Statistics Canada, 2012; Sundeen, Raskoff, & Garcia, 2007). The lack of ability to devote more volunteer hours or volunteer altogether resulted from a shortage of time due to other responsibilities (67%) and the inability to make long-term commitments (62%) (Statistics Canada, 2012). Research also shows that challenges include community residents' apprehension and discomfort when working with professionals, tensions between unpaid residents and paid residents, service-providers, and staff, and cultural and language barriers (Cameron et al., 1994; Pancer & Cameron, 1994).

Critical negative outcomes of resident participation have also been discovered. These outcomes were identified as failed expectations and disappointments (Hayward et al., 2011) and volunteer burnout (Cameron et al., 1994; Pancer & Cameron, 1994). A secondary effect of volunteer burnout is a high turnover rate, which then requires further resources to reach new volunteers and provide continuous training and technical assistance (Pines & Aronson, 1988). Burnout and high turnover among residents can be detrimental to project adherence, success, and sustainability due to the importance of resident participation when implementing a community-based prevention program (Allen & Mueller, 2013).

Resident involvement in program implementation is particularly vital for grassroots projects aimed at enhancing community development. Research has shown that residents

possess expert knowledge regarding a community's needs (Tritter & McCallum, 2006) and therefore provide key contributions in decision-making, implementation, and sustainability of a project (Christian, Evans, Nykjaer, Hancock, & Cade, 2014; Murphy & Cunningham, 2003; Kulbok, Meszaros, Bond, Thatcher, Park, Kimbrell, & Smith-Gregory, 2015). Although a program may have specific components that must be adhered to in order to achieve effectiveness and maintain fidelity, residents from the local setting are often needed to assist in the delivery of these components in order to better fit the needs of the local context (Hawe, Shiell, Riley & Gold, 2004). For example, a major component of a program may be that it must be universal, ensuring that the programs developed and implemented target all members within a particular age group living in the local community. Residents can then assist with the development of universal programs that meet the community's needs while adequately targeting those within that specific age group.

In addition, residents contribute unique views, effective and tangible engagement, and an enhancement of suitability when tailoring a model to meet specific community needs (Durlak & DuPre, 2008). Many diverse residents can contribute their skills and expertise by participating and assisting with the planning, development and implementation of community projects in several ways and through different levels of participation.

High-levels of participation often occur from community residents and service-providers who have been involved with a project prior to a set project plan being defined and funding acquired (Hayward et al., 2011). These individuals are characterized by having been highly-engaged from the beginning of the exploration stage and have often led or assisted with project planning, proposal, and grant applications. Once funding is acquired these individuals may stay highly involved in the project during the installation stage through frequent participation on

committees, regularly volunteering at programs, and completion of work beyond their required duties. Of the highly-involved who are volunteers, these residents would be considered a small proportion of volunteers (10%) who devote more than half of total volunteer hours needed for program success (Statistics Canada, 2012), whereas residents who are less engaged may not commit to as many tasks or responsibilities. The impetus for fewer hours committed to volunteering may stem from a lack of available time, as mentioned previously (Statistics Canada, 2012) or other factors. These residents may have only become engaged during the installation stage and may also participate on a committee that meets quarterly or annually, rather than monthly, and/or possibly volunteer at one-time events within the community.

Understanding that resident participation is not dependent solely on the extent of decision-making power or, frequency and intensity of engagement within a project is important. Different roles, expertise and levels of participation are beneficial in producing positive personal and project outcomes (Metz & Bartley, 2006). Resident engagement is needed in all areas of a project including project development, community outreach, service delivery, and research components (Pancer & Cameron, 1994). Therefore, early evaluation assessing resident participation is important to project success.

Previous research has not yet examined the impact of resident participation, both high-level participation and low-level participation, in the early (exploration and installation) stages of implementation (Cameron, et al., 1994; Durlak & DuPre, 2008 Pancer & Cameron, 1994; Metz & Bartley, 2012; Tritter & McCallum, 2006). Rather implementation evaluations often commence once the planning is completed and the practical implementation has already begun (Durlak & DuPre, 2008). Early implementation evaluations can aid in understanding the facilitators and barriers of resident participation within the project as well as the impacts of

participation on the project process itself (Cameron, Peirson, & Pancer, 1994). Without clear evidence that participation is linked to progression towards achieving project goals throughout the different implementation stages, there is little chance residents will remain engaged (Tritter & McCallum, 2006). Continuous evaluation of resident participation throughout the different stages of implementation is important (Durlak, 1998; Durlak & DuPre, 2008) for program success and sustainability, especially those reliant on resident participation. In order to increase community participation, which ultimately enhances program success, research must begin to assess resident participation within the early stages of an implementation process. Findings from this line of research can develop strategies to reduce potential barriers and enhance facilitators for significant and meaningful involvement of residents in planning, installing and implementing programs (Cameron et al., 1994; Hayward et al., 2011; Pancer & Cameron, 1994). The implementation of the prevention program *Better Beginnings, Better Futures* is a prime example of a community project that benefits from resident participation.

# A Community-based Model for Positive Child Development

Better Beginnings, Better Futures (hereafter referred to as Better Beginnings) is a community-based, universal program model designed in 1990 to prevent emotional and behavioral problems among young children while promoting positive mental health and general development. Better Beginnings research has shown that positive child development is fostered by building and enhancing community capacity (Hasford, Loomis, Nelson, & Pancer, 2013; Peters et al., 2003; Peters et al., 2010; Worton et al., 2014). The Better Beginnings model is holistic and ecological in nature—incorporating children, families and their communities. The model also values inclusion, recognition and appreciation of cultural diversity that exists among individuals and within communities. Better Beginnings is considered a non-standardized

intervention because of its flexibility and opportunity for adaptations to meet the unique needs of a community (Durlak, 1998).

Guiding principles of *Better Beginnings*. Despite the lack of standardization of programming in *Better Beginnings*, there are four guiding principles of its model (Hayward et al., 2010; Peters et al., 2003; Worton et al., 2014). The four principles of the *Better Beginnings* model follow: (1) ecological and holistic, (2) universal, (3) service integration, and (4) grassroots, with a minimum of 51% resident participation. First, this model is ecological and holistic by remaining attentive to children, as well as to the environment that surrounds them. This concept is based on Bronfenbrenner's (2005) ecological theory which focuses on the interaction between an individual and her/his surrounding environment, including family, community, and society. The programs of *Better Beginnings* attend to environmental layers by including child-focused programs, such as before and after school programs, parent and family-focused programs, such as home visitations and ESL classes, and community-focused programs, such as community picnics and events. Programs are also adopted and adapted by residents thus making this model community-driven.

Second, *Better Beginnings* is universally available to all children within a specific age group as well as their families within a particular geographic location over multiple years. Third, *Better Beginnings* is a strengths-based model which aims to build off of community strengths, successes, and abilities as a starting point with a goal of integrating with existing services within a community in a seamless manner. The fourth and final guiding principle is meaningful and significant resident involvement is central to successful implementation of *Better Beginnings*. Residents have played a major role during project development, governance, programming, community outreach and advocacy, and research. Since its inception, project committees must

be composed of 51% community members and this quorum is required in order to approve any project decision.

Better Beginnings' model variations and evaluation outcomes. The guiding principles of the Better Beginnings' model are delivered in two age group variations. The first model targets children from pre-birth to 4 years old (younger cohort) while the second targets children aged 4 to 8 years old (older cohort). In 1993, the two models were implemented in eight pilot Better Beginnings demonstration sites across Ontario (Peters, et al., 2003). Outcome evaluations have been conducted on these demonstration sites. Findings for the younger cohort sites did not generate consistently positive effects: some outcomes were more favourable for comparison sites; others showed positive impact for the Better Beginnings sites; and still other indicators showed no impact (Peters et al., 1997). Inconsistent findings may have been related to the program reach having been too broad or fragmented, or potential confounding factors were not assessed in the initial evaluation (Loomis, 2013). In contrast to findings of the early cohort, positive results were found for the model targeting children ages 4 to 8 years.

Evaluations revealed significant positive outcomes for children, parents and families as well as the larger community (Hasford et al., 2013; Pancer & Cameron, 1994; Pancer et al., 2013; Peters et al., 2010; Peters et al., 2003). Long-term research shows that children who participated in *Better Beginnings* improved social skills, self-control, and decreased use of special education services. It was observed that parents and families reduced maternal smoking, improved family functioning, and parental social support. Finally, communities saw increases in neighborhood satisfaction as well as greater parental and community involvement (Peters et al., 2010). These positive findings come from research conducted at existing sites with assessments

in grades 3, 6, 9, and 12. Whether newly developed sites can replicate these findings is an open question.

Before understanding the outcomes of a new *Better Beginnings* project on children, families, and a community, an implementation evaluation is needed to reveal if the project components adheres to the *Better Beginnings* principles. Implementing the *Better Beginnings* model into a newly selected community setting provides an opportunity to assess the chief principle of resident participation through early project stages. While previous research has assessed resident participation (Christian, Evans, Nykjaer, Hancock, & Cade, 2014; Murphy & Cunningham, 2003; Kulbok, Meszaros, Bond, Thatcher, Park, Kimbrell, & Smith-Gregory, 2015), it has not examined this at specific stages of the implementation process. Specifically, little research has yet to examine the connection between the different levels of resident participation throughout the stages of the implementation process. Assessing the different levels of resident participation during the implementation process, primarily during the fundamental exploration and installation stages allow for early and rapid identification of issues and application of solutions in a community start-up project.

#### **Research Objectives and Rationale**

Rationale for this study. Resident participation is a vital factor and core component in the planning, development, and implementation of community-based prevention projects (Peters et al., 2010). Conducting early implementation evaluation is critical to ensuring that project progress is on target throughout the primary stages of implementation. Activities occurring during the early stages of implementation require active resident participation that provides the foundation for the program success and sustainability. The early implementation evaluation can

allow for rapid identification of potential issues and solutions regarding resident participation.

**Research objectives.** The early implementation evaluation assessed resident participation in the Enriching Communities project (fictionalized name) to provide feedback information to the project and gain a deeper understanding of resident participation during different stages of implementing a community-based initiated project. The objective of this research was to understand the nature of resident participation during the early planning stages of the implementation process of a community-based primary prevention program, Better Beginnings, including the facilitators and barriers to resident participation, and different activities and outcomes that occur at each stage of the implementation process. These factors were compared between those who were highly-engaged in the project and those who were less engaged in order to understand the different components and trajectory of resident participation. Furthermore, research shows that implementation evaluations can aid in providing evidence of direct connections between program components and outcomes (Durlak, 1998). In addition, the early evaluation of the project implementation also provides information pertaining to adaptions and innovations required for implementation success. Research findings will be used to inform service enhancement of the new Enriching Communities adaptation and to contribute to the growing literature of implementation science.

Table 1 contains details regarding the three main objectives of this research, the main research questions as well as the proposed method.

Table 1: Research Objectives, Questions, and Method

Objective	Research Questions	Method
A. To understand the types of activities in which residents participated in the exploration and installation stages.	1a. In what types of activities do the most involved and less involved residents participate during the exploration and installation stages?  1b. Do types of activities vary by degree of involvement or implementation stage?	1a. Focus groups with residents and service-providers who have participated in the project since initiation, and field notes 1a. Semi-structured interviews with residents from the steering committee, service-providers and staff, and field notes.  1b. Thematic coding and constant comparative analysis
B. To understand the facilitators and barriers to resident participation in the exploration and installation stages.	2a. What are the facilitators of resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the exploration and installation stages?  2b. Do facilitators vary by degree of involvement of implementation stage?	2a. Focus groups with residents and service-providers who have participated in the project since initiation, and field notes 2a. Semi-structured interviews with residents from the steering committee, service-providers, staff, and field notes 2b. Thematic coding and constant comparative analysis
	3a. What are the barriers of resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the exploration and installation stages?  3b. Do barriers vary by degree of involvement of implementation stage?	3a. Focus groups with residents and service-providers who have participated in the project since initiation, and field notes 3a. Semi-structured interviews with residents from the steering committee, service-providers, staff, and field notes 3b. Thematic coding and constant comparative analysis
C. To understand the impacts of resident participation during exploration and installation stages on the individual residents, the project, and the community	4a. What are the outcomes of resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the exploration and installation stages?  4b. Do outcomes vary by degree of involvement or implementation stage?	<ul> <li>4a. Focus groups with residents who have participated in the project since initiation, and field notes</li> <li>4a. Semi-structured interviews with residents from the steering committee, and field notes</li> <li>4b. Thematic coding and constant comparative analysis</li> </ul>

#### Method

#### Context

In December 2014, a community in the Southwestern, Ontario received funding to adapt and implement *Better Beginnings*. This project implementation, *Enriching Communities*, had several community organizations involved including the local school board. Initially, *Enriching Communities* was implemented in two public elementary schools with the hopes of incorporating an additional four schools by 2018. These schools served as community "hubs" or centres where project meetings, program delivery, and community events took place.

The first active community hub was Peach Public School (fictionalized name) with approximately 180 students enrolled from Junior Kindergarten to grade 6 as of September 2014. Plum Public School (fictionalized name) was the second *Enriching Communities* community hub with an enrolment of approximately 244 students ranging from Junior Kindergarten to grade 6.

After exploration of the *Better Beginnings* model began in 2011, residents and stakeholders determined the model was a good fit that could meet the community's needs. Moreover, many existing resources were already in place and project champions, including school principals of the public schools intended to be community hubs, were supportive of the project. Thus, presentations of the proposed *Better Beginnings* project were given to key political figures and funding was sought from a local foundation. Together, community members worked to create a business case and complete grant applications. In December 2014, these efforts led to the acquisition of funding, from the local foundation, needed to begin the implementation process of this model. At this time the implementation of *Better Beginnings* Project entered the installation stage. Upon receiving funding key stakeholders and residents of

the community began planning and developing committees for project progression. Residents were notified about the launch of the project and were encouraged to become involved in the implementation process.

#### Standpoint as a Researcher

Fortunately, I have been active in the Southwestern, Ontario community over the past three years and although I was not an active participant in the early planning stages, I have observed the progression of the Better Beginnings project as an outsider since 2011. During my fourth year of university, I volunteered at a Breakfast Club program held at Peach Public School. This school is located in a community with a range people from of diverse socioeconomic, with many families battling with low-income, among many other hardships (e.g., refugee-status, addictions, health issues, etc.). While volunteering at Peach Public School, I provided a healthy balanced meal to some students who otherwise may not have received breakfast due to many factors, while they socialized with friends and took part in sophisticated educational games, such as chess. I was able to witness firsthand the community come together to support each other, especially young children. My experiences at Peach resonated with me because my upraising in some sense was akin to many families in the Southwestern, Ontario community.

Growing up my family faced many hardships including traumatic events, economic difficulties and stressors of daily life. Despite adversities, I was fortunate enough to be raised in an extremely supportive and unconditionally loving environment. During my upbringing, my family was not always able to afford material goods, as I can remember several Christmas' and birthdays' without any presents. However, my lack of material possessions went unnoticed. Growing up I had a supportive family and community, and I maintained a supportive network of

friends throughout my childhood into my adult life that has enabled me to develop protective factors, such as resilience, and coping strategies, which I would not have otherwise. There have been many times when I have been faced with hardships such as acts of discrimination or rejection but I have persevered because of the coping strategies I possess. I consider myself an exceptionally privileged individual specifically because of the immense support I had and continue to receive.

As a university-educated, black woman I understand that my life experience is personal and unique. I also recognize that each individual has her/his own unique experience and life story. I understand that my privilege of accessible schooling, social support and financial independence may cloud my understanding of the experiences and perspectives of the Southwestern, Ontario residents. In order to remain conscious of my personal biases and standpoints, I maintained a journal documenting my reflexivity throughout this study.

#### Research Paradigm

The early implementation evaluation in Southwestern, Ontario region was conducted from a pragmatist paradigm framework (Morgan, 2014). This paradigm deconstructs the distinction between realism and anti-realism often argued in paradigm wars and instead emphasizes that each individual constructs his/her own reality that is ever-changing based on our actions and environments. In other words, an external and objective reality experienced by all is nonexistent.

In this study, I recognize that there are multiple realities among residents within a community shaped by different social, political, and economic factors and values. As a result, the method utilized (e.g., semi-structured interviews) was distinctively tailored in order to

address diverse realities. I employed techniques that best met the objectives of the research, such as semi-structured in-depth interviews and focus groups, in order to understand the unique experience of the residents in the Southwestern, Ontario Region. Cultural norms and diversity were respected and a genuine, transparent relationship with community members regarding the research process was maintained. Moreover, through the process, residents had an opportunity to reflect on their personal involvement with the *Enriching Communities* project and their community as a whole.

# Research Design and Sampling Strategies

This study used a comparative qualitative research design with a purposeful sampling strategy (Padgett, 2012) stratified by level of involvement and status in the project (i.e., residents, service-provider, and project staff). Residents were carefully selected following inclusion criteria in order to assess the key variations among residents who engage in participation on a high-level, those who are less engaged, and service-providers throughout the implementation stages.

Residents in the high-level participation and low-level participation groups were selected from the existing project steering committee and were required to reside in the catchment area of the two public schools currently serving as the community hub. The high-level participants were identified as volunteer community residents and paid service-providers who would have been heavily involved in the project prior to the funding acquisition date, December 2014. This involvement was confirmed through meeting minutes taken prior to December 2014. The high-level participators were also a part of one or more committees, which met monthly or bimonthly, and had a role on these committees with specific ongoing responsibilities, such as note-taker or no-chair. Service-providers were hired for a specific amount of time, possibly for the

full four years. Members of the steering committee fit these criteria. Due to the inclusion criteria requiring high-level engagers to have been a part of the project since the exploration stage, project staff members hired during the installation stage were not included in this group.

Lower-level participants were also volunteer community residents living within the catchment area and may have begun their participation prior to funding acquisition; however, they sat on one or no committees. If they were sitting on a committee, they met monthly, quarterly or annually and their role had little to no ongoing responsibilities. Some of these individuals also volunteered in one-time events, such as Karaoke Night or Movie Night, however they did not have any specific ongoing responsibilities or commitments. Members with little to no responsibility on the steering team (e.g., parents, local retirees) fit these criteria. Additionally, project staff members hired during the installation were also considered low-level engagers due to their participation occurring in the post-initial planning stage.

All residents were 18 years old or older and needed to be able to communicate in the English language. There were no restrictions on gender, race, marital status, and/or employment status. Levels of participation were defined at the beginning of this study (i.e., the implementation evaluation). Therefore, if a resident began participating on a low-level and slowly increased to a high-level participator throughout the implementation evaluation, this resident continued to be considered a low-level participator. Additionally, if a participant (e.g. project staff) became involved with the project mid-way through the implementation evaluation (during the installation stage), they were considered low-level participators as well. The change in participation and activity levels was assessed through data analysis.

#### Sample

The sample (N=11) was divided into four groups; three highly-engaged service-providers, two highly-engaged volunteer community residents, four less-engaged volunteer community residents, and two staff project members. (n=2 males, n=9 females). The study initially aimed to collect data from a sample size of 12. However, due to scheduling issues one participant was unable to participate in the study. The rationalization for the sample size emerged from research showing saturation often occurs within the first 12 interviews, and metathemes uncovered within the first six interviews (Guest, Bunce & Johnson, 2006).

Participants consisted of volunteer residents, service-providers, and project staff who were carefully selected to participate in this study. Volunteer residents were defined as project contributors that are unpaid, such as parents and local retirees and lived within the catchment area (n= 6). These individuals live within the community and voluntarily choose to assist with community efforts. Service-provider residents were local individuals employed by a service organization affiliated with the project, such as school principals, funder representatives or paid researchers (n= 3). Staff was defined as individuals hired specifically by *Better Beginnings* to assist with project coordination and implementation (n= 2). Age of residents was not collected.

#### **Instruments: Interview Guide, Field Notes, and List of Activities**

The use of focus groups and interviews, participant observations and field notes facilitated in understanding the dynamics of resident participation during the stages of implementation. The voice of the residents helped to provide rich details about the unique culture and context of the community involved in the implementation process (Dorner et al., 2014). Simultaneous qualitative data collection methods were used throughout this implementation evaluation. The semi-structured interview guide included questions pertaining to

perceived barriers and facilitators of resident participation, types of activities engaged in, and impacts of resident participation on the project process and potential personal outcomes (Pancer et al., 1994); probes were added to gather as much relevant data as possible, tailoring the interview to the specific individual based on their level of engagement. (Interview guides for the focus group and individual interview can be found in Appendix A, and B, respectively).

To supplement or triangulate data from the interviews that were conducted, field notes were made from observations. Direct participant observations made from March 2015 to February 2016 occurred at committee meetings, while volunteering at programs and engaging in community events. The observation guide used (Appendix C) was adapted from a tool created by Patton (2002) and included observations regarding program setting, human and social environments, program activities and behaviors, informal interactions and unplanned behaviors, and nonverbal communications. Observations were also made as I worked alongside community members to assist with the creation of necessary components of the project, such as policy handbooks and communication resources.

Project progress was observed throughout the implementation evaluation process. In order to identify project stages a diagnostic tool, Adapted Stages of Implementation Completion (ASIC), was adapted (Chamberlain, Brown & Saldana, 2011). This tool monitored progress throughout the implementation process by assessing the activities completed and activities skipped. A list of the activities involved in the four different stages (exploration, installation, initial installation and full implementation) was created and used to document activity completion (see Appendix D for the ASIC containing a list of implementation stages and activities for the Better Beginnings project).

Furthermore, the continuous use of field notes and memos to document semi-verbatim accounts of events allowed for the identification of noticeable themes and observations, throughout the evaluation (Appendix D). Natural occurrences among residents were also documented as well as my own reflexivity of the resident participation and project progresses. These field notes allowed me to monitor resident participation during the implementation process through my own perspective. Thematic analysis of my field notes and memos were completed in order to grasp and triangulate the overarching themes pertaining to resident participation (detailed further in the *Analysis* section below).

#### **Procedure**

Residents, both highly-engaged and less-engaged, staff, and service-providers participating in the implementation process of the community-based project were first invited to participate in the research study via email. I followed up with a phone call (or with an in person invitation) to coordinate a time to participate in either a focus group and/or an individual interview. Highly-engaged individuals who had been a part of the project since the inception, including residents and service-providers, were invited to a focus group. Unfortunately, due to issues with scheduling, two interviews, rather than one focus group, were conducted with four of the seven highly engaged residents and service-providers. Each interview consisted of two participants. The aim of the interviews were to acquire a collective understanding and re-telling of the inception, or exploration stage, of this project. Three people were approached for an interviewer, but were either not available or declined to participate in the focus group process. However, these participants were later interviewed individually. One highly-engaged service-provider was invited but was unable to attend both the focus group and individual interview. Project staff members, (e.g., project coordinator) were not asked to participate in the focus

groups since their engagement in the project did not occur until after funding was acquired and the installation stage began, however, they were asked to participate in individual interviews.

The use of a focus group with a small number of highly-engaged residents and service-providers allowed for memories to retrospectively emerge of the planning exploration stage which occurred from 2011 to 2014. Participants were also able to elaborate on one another's reminiscences as the story-telling and recollection of the project planning stage occurred. Individual in-depth interviews were then conducted to discuss in greater detail resident participation during the current installation stage.

The second group consisted of participating residents who were less involved during the exploration stage. These individuals were asked to participate in in-depth, individual interviews. The individual interviews were used to ensure confidentiality and privacy when discussing personal opinions and emotions.

Table 2 contains details regarding the participant's role in the project, their level of engagement and their participation in research activities.

Table 2: Participant's Role, Level of Engagement, Research Activities.

	Project Role	Level of engagement	Stage Involvement Began	Research Participation
Participant #1	Service-provider	High	Exploration	Paired Interview & Individual Interview
Participant #2	Service-provider	High	Exploration	Paired Interview & Individual Interview
Participant #3	Service-provider	High	Exploration	Paired Interview & Individual Interview
Participant #4	Resident	High	Exploration	Paired Interview & Individual Interview
Participant #5	Resident	High	Exploration	Individual Interview
Participant #6	Resident	Low	Exploration	Individual Interview
Participant #7	Resident	Low	Exploration	Individual Interview
Participant #8	Resident	Low	Installation	Individual Interview

Participant #9	Resident	Low	Installation	Individual Interview
Participant #10	Staff	Low	Installation	Individual Interview
Participant #11	Staff	Low	Installation	Individual Interview

Paired interviews and individual interviews were scheduled based on the convenience of the residents and conducted between December 2015 and January 2016. Consent forms were completed and the 45-minute to hour long conversations were audio recorded. Participant observations and memos were documented throughout my engagement in the implementation process of the Better Beginnings project, primarily between March 2015 and February 2016.

Qualitative data collected were audio recorded and transcribed by me verbatim (Padgett, 2012). Audio data and transcripts were uploaded and stored on a password-protected computer, and analyzed using NVivo computer software. All interviews were anonymized through unique identifiers. Digital records of interviews were deleted upon completion of the transcriptions and any quotes used in publications or presentations were stripped of identifying information, including names of individuals, organizations or communities.

# **Data Analysis**

Thematic analysis (Braun & Clark, 2006) was used to review the data, identify common themes and apply an interpretation or meaning (Padgett, 2012). Thematic analysis allowed for the identification, analysis, and reporting of unique patterns within the data using systematic coding answering the preconceived research questions. This form of analysis occurred on all relevant documents (e.g., transcripts, field notes, etc.) through the evaluation process and memos were created to record hunches about the data and issues of concern.

The process of thematic analysis began by utilizing an exploratory approach to conduct inductive coding, or inductive content analysis, on the data. Next, relationships between codes

were identified and codes were grouped by latent themes. For example, several participants discussed poor communication, lack of team building, and issues with power dynamics and decision-making within the team as barriers to their participation. Thus, these codes were grouped under the overall theme of "barriers" and the meta-theme of "Dynamics within the Project Team". The process of thematic analysis continued until the data reached a point of saturation, meaning no new codes were developed, and themes were fully extracted. Field notes were then used to triangulate and confirm the themes found during the thematic analysis (Strauss & Corbin, 1994).

I, the research, began taking field notes from the very first meeting regarding the implementation evaluation until the end of the study. Field notes were taken regarding natural observations, formal and informal conversations, and hunches about resident participation during the implementation process. For example, field notes were written concerning informal, personal conversations that occurred with a highly-engaged resident in August, 2015. The resident expressed feelings of disappointment and frustration with the lack of communication between themselves and the new project hire. They also expressed confusion regarding their new role and responsibilities as a result of the new project hire taken over many of their previous tasks. This particular field note, and several others, reinforced the identified theme of "Lack of Clarity" regarding roles and responsibilities. All themes were consistent with hunches and observations recorded in the field notes, however, direct quotes from notes were not inserted into the *findings* section due to identifying information contained in the document.

Additionally, a reflexive journal was also kept throughout the entire implementation evaluation process. Journaling began after the first meeting regarding my practicum and entrance into the community until the end of the evaluation study. The reflexive journal was used to

personally debrief as well as document personal hunches and opinions about occurrences throughout the project. For example, I, the researcher, journaled about occurrences at project team meetings that involved a project staff member making decisions without the consent and approval of the fellow team members and residents. The staff member said "I always say, it is better to ask for forgiveness than permission" during one informal conversation. Each time a decision was made without discussion or approval, I journaled about my own feelings of frustration and disproval regarding the situation. This was done in order to ensure that my feelings and opinions were documented and, therefore, could be revisited and would not impose or interfere with interpretation of the data.

Establishing the quality of data. Initially, I entered the community through a practicum placement through volunteering opportunities and by attending project meetings. Rapport was built with community residents through informal discussion and prolonged engagement (Padgett, 2012). It is believed that the rapport developed helped to reduce respondent bias as residents felt comfortable to openly express their opinions. In order to build trust with community members, reduce researcher biases and enhance credibility within the data, member checking was conducted with the residents when assessing and interpreting the findings. Transparency about the research project with community members was also crucial to the rapport and trust built between the residents and me during the evaluation (Dorner et al., 2014). An audit trail and reflexivity was also documented using journaling and memos during the entire research process. Finally, although transferability is not the main priority for this study due to the adaptability of *Better Beginnings* to a specific community context, thick description of the process and findings were documented for future implementations. Furthermore, data triangulations are techniques

used to enhance the credibility and quality of the data.

Ethics. This study/implementation evaluation assessing resident participation on the Better Beginnings Southwestern, Ontario project was part of a larger project that had already been approved by Wilfrid Laurier Research Ethics Board prior to data collection commencing. Minimal physical and psychological risks were expected throughout this research project for individuals involved. It was possible, however, that participants might feel overloaded with research responsibility if they are highly involved in the *Better Beginnings* project already. They might also have had trouble with the timing of meetings due to alternative priorities. These risks were accommodated for, as I ensured flexibility when meetings were scheduled and where they were held. Community residents might also have felt negatively if the findings were undesirable. This risk was reduced by maintaining transparency throughout the research project by providing three interim verbal updates during steering team meetings. Finally, residents might have felt hesitant or intimidated when interacting with "professionals" as research explains (Cameron et al., 1994). However, with the prolonged engagement in the community it was expected that this risk was diminished.

#### **Findings**

The early implementation evaluation conducted on a community-driven prevention program aimed to understand the facilitators and barriers of resident participation, as well as the activities residents participated in and the outcomes of their engagement on the community, project and themselves. These four components were assessed for residents most involved and less involved in the exploration, retrospectively, and in the current installation stages of the implementation process. The findings regarding the four research questions (#1a-4a) during the exploration and installation stage are summarized in Table 3 with details following. The

subsequent four research questions (1b-4b) which compares the findings by implementation stage, level of engagement and project have been grouped together for readability purposes.

Table 4 provides an summarized illustration of the key findings of these four research questions.

Table 3 contains summarized findings of common themes of resident participation organized by research questions, implementation stage, and status.

Table 3: Overall Findings of Resident Participation by Implementation Stages

	Most Involved	Less Involved		
<b>Exploration Stage</b>	Residents and Service-providers	Residents		
1a. Activities	<ul> <li>Community outreach and awareness efforts</li> <li>Received education and training</li> <li>Steering team</li> <li>Led logistics</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Community outreach and awareness efforts</li> <li>May or may not have received education and training</li> <li>Steering team</li> <li>Supported logistics efforts</li> </ul>		
Missed activities	Relationship-building with local school board	<ul><li>Deeper understanding of logistics</li><li>Greater community awareness</li></ul>		
2a. Facilitators	<ul> <li>Opportunity to create positive change in community</li> <li>Created vision for the project</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Opportunity to create positive change in community</li> <li>Endorsed the project vision</li> </ul>		
3a. Barriers	<ul> <li>Difficult logistics and lack of hands-on events</li> <li>Rules and regulations of local school board</li> <li>Lack of available time</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Difficult logistics and lack of hands-on events</li> <li>Lack of available time</li> </ul>		
4a. Outcomes	<ul> <li>Personal. Enhanced skills, social opportunities and personally rewarding</li> <li>Project. Acquired funding</li> <li>Community. Socialization</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Personal. Enhanced skills, social opportunities and personally rewarding</li> <li>Project. Acquired funding</li> <li>Community. Socialization</li> </ul>		
<b>Installation Stage</b>	Residents and Service-providers	Residents and Project Staff		
1a. Activities	<ul><li>Project support</li><li>Residents reducing activities</li></ul>	<ul><li>Project support</li><li>Increasing activities and workload</li></ul>		
2a. Facilitators	Learning opportunities and contribute skills	Learning opportunities and contribute skills		

	Most Involved	Less Involved	
	Social Support	Social Support	
	Optimism and project expansion	<ul> <li>Optimism and project expansion</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Potential positive outcomes for</li> </ul>	Potential positive outcomes for	
	children, families, and the	children, families, and the	
	community	community	
	<ul> <li>Overcoming project hurdles</li> </ul>	Overcoming project hurdles	
	(service-providers)	(project staff)	
3a. Barriers	<ul> <li>Partnerships</li> </ul>	Dynamic within the project team	
	• Dynamic within the project team	(residents)	
	(residents)	• Lack of clarity (residents)	
	• Lack of clarity (residents)	• Failed expectations (residents)	
	• Failed expectations (residents)	<ul> <li>Lack of available programming</li> </ul>	
	• Lack of available programming	and visibility (residents)	
	and visibility (residents)	<ul> <li>Lack of available time</li> </ul>	
	• Lack of available time		
4a. Outcomes	Personal. Commitment, improve	Personal. Commitment, improve	
	skills, personal growth, and	skills, personal growth, and	
	social connections	social connections	
	<ul> <li>Project Strong community</li> </ul>	Project Strong community	
	partners	partners	
	Community. Volunteer	Community. Volunteer	
	opportunities and engaging	opportunities and engaging	
	community members	community members	

#### **Exploration Stage**

Research Question #1a: In what types of activities do the most involved and less involved residents participate during the exploration stage?

The exploration stage of the *Enriching Communities* project began in 2011. Residents, staff and active partners involved in a community connectivity network worked together to understand the needs of the members of the local neighbourhood. After having identified clear needs and gaps within the community, an expert researcher on community-based intervention programs was approached and brought into the network's discussions to present potential program ideas and solutions. It was at this time the proposed program, *Better Beginnings*, was introduced to the participating members of the roundtable. The findings of the focus groups

assessing the organizational fit and community response show that the proposed program was quickly recognized as a solid fit by community members. The *Better Beginnings* model was notably ideal as many of the existing community services and system practices were already established in the local context. The excerpt below is from an interview conducted with a highly-engaged service-provider discussing the fit of the program in the local context and the community's' positive response.

"Well, that's what I thought! Is I thought this is a perfect fit because I thought they had a lot of the elements in place that the other older Better Beginnings sites that I knew of already, you know, that were working already had. So, they had a school where the principal was really excited, they had sort of high-needs neighbourhood. They had a community centre and they had residents who had been involved for a while and some history of that with some other projects. So, I thought what was missing was the opportunity to kind of coordinate all of that and have some staff to give it some more, a little bit more 'umph'. Um, I just thought- and I thought there were good partners and players who were ready for this. So, it seemed like the perfect fit and then as part of our grant that we got, the funder wanted us as part of the dissemination to start one new project. So, I guess that was part of it too was then the fact that it was just right here in my backyard. And, that I actually knew someone who was there doing this kind of work and just getting started. So, I thought it was a perfect opportunity. Yeah, it just came together very easily." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Community outreach and awareness. The community responded with enthusiasm about the potential implementation of the *Better Beginnings* model in their community. Existing members of the connectivity network, including school principals, community workers and

program experts, worked to actively recruit more residents from the community, and parent councils within the local schools. Residents and service-providers planned, led and supported community events aimed to raise awareness about the new project. Many of the residents who currently remain involved identified being approached or asked to join the project team by another existing member.

The quotes below illustrate the ways in which residents were approached and invited by local service-providers or community members to participate in the project. Community outreach and raising awareness is a required in order to increase resident participation and program sustainability.

"So, I first heard from [principal of local school]. They were having an information night at [local school] and [they] asked if I would be interested in coming to see what was going on and that they would be looking for a focus group and a steering committee later.

So, [they] thought I would be a good fit." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

The volunteer below

"So, that would be from [resident]. And, literally I heard about it in a waiting room at a dance studio. Our daughters dance together and she knew what I did for a living [daycare provider]. And, so she thought for community partnership that it would have been a good idea to have somebody that has worked, like has kids in the community." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Education and training. With the objective of acquiring more familiarity and knowledge about the program model, residents took the opportunity to embark on several educational visits to existing Better Beginnings sites in local communities operating since 1993. An educational

session was also provided by an expert for all interested community residents, municipal employees, politicians and community partners to attend.

The quote below discusses education, tools, and training activities that occurred with many of the service-providers, highly-engaged residents, community organizations, and some interested less involved residents.

"And we also had training that we did when we finally had the toolkit done and before we did our first visit to a province, we piloted here. So, [researchers] and I did the, we did the training with [city]. So it was like a one-day thing down at the region and it was region-wide but a lot of people from that neighbourhood, [specific neighbourhood] came. So, all those people I was telling you about they came. [Service-provider] didn't come to that but a number of people did including some of the residents. So, we had a chance to go through the whole toolkit and the DVD with them and kind of bring them up to speed that way." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Steering team. Once education and training regarding the model was delivered to the community, committed residents and organizational partners came together to create a small steering team. The quote below exemplifies the way roles were occupied based on skills and previous experience.

"I would be honest I would say, you know, a team came together around it and everybody took on different roles and certain parts of it and so it was kind of neat to watch this thing take form." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Logistics. Key members of the steering team, including both paid and unpaid residents, developed a business case for the project, an implementation plan, and a proposal application

presented to several politicians, the local school board and a funding organization in the community. Funding was acquired in December 2014. The excerpt below is from a focus group conducted with two highly-engaged project participants. One of these participants responded to a question asking about the initial goal of the steering team and explained that acquiring funding and building a business case was the most important task.

"Find money. So, the first initial goal was to organize ourselves to have a business case and put some thought behind, we know it's a good idea but put some numbers behind it to be able to go and speak intelligently about what we think it would cost and what would, what would be the ask if we were to ask for money. So that would have been, I think that was the initial goal in the first year and a half probably. It was really focused on, you know, it took about 6 months to get that business case going." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Missed activity of Most Involved: Relationship-building with local school board. A major missed activity identified by highly-engaged residents and service-providers included building a stronger partnership with the local school board by presenting the community's and projects needs more clearly, asking more questions, and establishing a clear partnership in writing. The service-provider quoted below raises some questions that they believe should have been asked and clarified with community partners during the exploration stage.

"Yeah. But we should have asked a lot more question about so, how is this going to work with facilities? How do we need this? What do they need from us? You know, how can we ensure that it's going to run smoothly? And, we didn't ask those questions we just assumed that because we had this agreement now, this understanding that things would fall into place." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Missed activity of Less Involved: Deeper understanding of logistics and greater community awareness. Two missed activities noted by those less involved included acquiring a better understanding of the logistics during the inception of the project and creating a greater awareness about the project to the community and its residents from the early planning stages. The volunteer below discusses the desire to have been more involved in the meetings regarding the logistics behind the project in order to be more of an assistance now that issues are emerging during the installation stage.

"I think it would have been good because there was some of the bigger meetings that I was invited to come to but the time didn't work for me. And, I think that would've been good if I had have been able to because um, I would have understood a little bit more about the politics as to why things were delayed. And, maybe could have helped with that but I just wasn't able to go at those times is all." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

The quote below mentions that more community outreach and awareness could have occurred during the exploration stage, as well as opportunities for participation among residents that did not involve formal, technical tasks such as building business cases and completing grant applications.

"I think we missed to get out to more people at [local school]. We may have gotten some more support there from parents and it may have helped to alleviate some of the, because they know some of the people that have dropped off it's because there were, you know, a group of 10 trying to do everything. If we had maybe more people at the beginning, I don't know. It kind of worked organically through word-of-mouth and who we could pull in right? And this isn't something that everybody is necessarily aware of, or drawn to or understand how it works. Right? That's one of the challenges that we....cause we're

trying to get community and resident support into something that at the beginning is very formal, right? Because you need to have formal things." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Research Question #2a: What are the facilitators of resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the exploration stage?

Opportunity to create a positive change. The initial steering team identified the opportunity to create a positive change in their community as well as the prospect of enhancing the lives of children as well as the local community in its entirety. Residents were also encouraged by the passion and vision of the original pioneering residents as a key motivator of their participation. These findings were consistent with my observations and field notes as residents openly expressed their excitement to enhance the lives of those in their community.

"I would say it's the passion of the people who caught that vision in the first place and thought, 'wow, this is awesome! We want this for our community and we're going to do what it takes to get this!' And there's a few key people, I think who are behind that and [resident] is one of them and [resident] and [resident]. I think they're the three big drivers and they just really, really have a commitment and a passion and vision for it.

That's what keeps them going." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Research Question #3a: What are the barriers to resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the exploration stage?

Difficult logistics and lack of hands-on events. One challenge included the lack of hands-on opportunities for residents, such as volunteering at events and programs. Due to the focus mainly being on logistics of the project, which were often lengthy and difficult, some participating residents decided to reduce their participation until more practical opportunities were available. The excerpt below was given by a highly-engaged resident in a focus group

when asked about the barriers to resident participation. The respondent described the need to create opportunities that allow residents with different areas of expertise to assist with the project. These findings were consistent with my field notes regarding informal conversations with uninvolved community members and less involved residents (Memo, Jun. 2015)

"... But, for somebody who wants to just come to a breakfast club and help out, right, that's not necessarily where they feel they can contribute, whether they can or not- they absolutely can contribute but maybe they don't see where they can contribute or how they can." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Rules and regulations of local school board. Another major barrier was the difficulty experienced by those unfamiliar with the rules and regulations of the local school board. As a result of many system practices being unwritten, some residents found relationship-building and navigating the local school board to be a challenge. The highly-engaged resident below explains the questions they wished they had asked during the exploration stage as well as the relationships they would have like to build.

"It was you go through [local school principal], and that's it. And, I think in hindsight, I would have blown that door open and went, no! Who do we talk to because [local school principal] doesn't have time? That he is volunteering to do this. This is what, you know, to get a different connection that way. I don't know if that would have made any-difference. I don't know because you don't know how, like it's such a web of rules and silos and, it's- I have to say working at [employer] it is but I know those rules and I don't know the rules of the board yet." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Lack of available time. Finally, another critical barrier to resident participation was a lack of available time due to personal responsibilities. The service-provider quoted below articulates

the challenge with balancing personal responsibilities, employment, and assisting voluntarily with the project during the inception stage.

"Time. Like, cause we were all doing this as volunteers. So, if things came up, you know, if people were away, you just wouldn't have their input so it would wait. And, it did take a long time to get through some of the, the logistics of it. Like, a lot of the other community members wanted- 'okay, well let's just go ask for the money'. Well, you can't just go ask for the money. You have to have something behind it. And so, some of them got- you know, that's where they dropped off cause well, there is nothing that I can do. They weren't necessarily of the mindset to sit in a meeting and come up with you know, a business case and think through numbers and all of that right? They wanted to be part of a program or a- kind of like where we are now right? And event." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Research Question #4a: What are the outcomes of resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the exploration stage?

Personal. Residents identified the opportunity to enhance skills and experience through learning experiences as a key personal outcome. They also found occasions to be part of a community-development project in their local neighbourhood very personally rewarding.

"... I was struggling with what I was doing at work. So, you'll find when you're not fulfilled at work you find other ways to fulfill your purpose in life. So, I was just trying to build on the gifts that I got, use them where I can." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Project. Residents acquired funding from a local non-profit organization after a year of creating and presenting proposals to different key stakeholders. The funding was identified as sustainable as it was designated for four years. As a result of obtaining funding, the project was

also able to secure a sponsor organization to help delegate funding for the project and hired staff.

The excerpt below was given by a highly-engaged resident who expresses the sense of joy and accomplishment of receiving the project funding.

"I mean just to be able to, and to think you know, cause I know I remember when [service-provider] came back and said 'oh my gosh, look at how much we're asking for' and I said, 'ask for everything you need to ask for!' And then it was just, it came back and I remember when we went to go get the cheque too and [service-provider] said, 'why are you smiling?', cause I knew we had this! I knew we were getting this money and just, yeah, being able to say, 'yeah we did that!'" (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Community. The exploration stage focuses mainly on project planning and acquiring funding. As a result, the project had little impact on the community at this stage of the implementation process. There were several local events that aimed to raise awareness about the project within the community. Residents also identified that the project played a major role in bringing a small group of community members together to work collectively on a project as described below by a service-provider.

"Well, I think it's drawn some people out of the community. It's provided an opportunity for some people to get involved, some parents, to get involved. And, I think that'll just grow. So, the more that's offered I think the more people will engage with it. And, you know, from what I hear from [researcher's] interviews that parents are saying these are the things they'd like and the more they meet those needs, the more I think you'll see parents come in. So, I think we're early but I think there is some good indicators of residents getting involved and you know, having some influence." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

### **Installation Stage**

Research Question #1a: In what types of activities do the most involved and less involved residents participate during the installation stage?

Project support. The successful implementation of a community-driven project often requires sufficient resident participation in many project activities. The activities involved during the installation stage require involvement by a greater number of residents, service-providers and project staff than in the exploration stage. The tasks are more "hands-on" and involve concrete project planning. The residents, service-provider and staff involved in the installation stage of this implementation process participated in activities supporting the project included education and training, research activities, outreach, participating on committees, and volunteering at events. The excerpt below is from an individual interview with a highly-engaged service-provider discussing his role as a consultant in the project.

"Well, I was sort of their consultant, you know? It was really kind of me sort of playing the role of educator and consultant and this is how you kind of get it going, and these were the components. So, yeah that was really my role and I think now they say- they call me consultant or researcher. So, those are the kind of two things that I mostly contribute is consultation and research." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Residents reducing activities and involvement. Residents who were highly-engaged in the implementation process during both the exploration and installation stage were essentially the individuals who pioneered the project. As the project begins to lay a foundation in the community and slowly moves forward, some heavily involved residents expressed an interest in reducing the responsibility and activities in the project. These findings were consistent with field

notes regarding informal conversations held (Memo, Jun. 2015, Oct., 2015, Jan., 2016). The quotes below from two highly-engaged residents illustrates the ways in which they wish to reduce their involved noting frustration and lack of time as obstacles.

"So, yeah, maybe I've got to be careful from now on to not get myself too engaged in something that has so many obstacles. I don't go home at night. A lot of people go home at night. So, that's my problem right? That's not, that's not either better, that's just the way I function so. It's frustrating, it frustrates me." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"I was dedicating myself, but then when I have a time crunch I kind of have to step back because I have to re-prioritize a bit." (Volunteer, Jan 2016)

Meanwhile, less involved residents and project staff expressed an interest of remaining as involved or becoming more engaged in project activities over time, (e.g., joining more committees) and attaining more responsibility. The quote below from a project staff exemplifies their desire to become more involved in expanding the project in the local community and building deeper connections.

"So, I hope to work to have a strong team and to sort of have that snowball effect that I will encourage the coordinators who will encourage the enrichment workers who will encourage the participants, so we get those circles of involvement going. And, then I would like to be more involved in the bigger picture, you know. So, connecting more with the City of Waterloo and with the-I'm going to be meeting with superintendents and you know, school board trustees and the executive of the organizations. And, I would really like to see how that we do expand to have established relationships in the Catholic school board." (Project staff, Jan. 2016)

Research Question #2a: What are the facilitators of resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the exploration stage?

Learning opportunities and contributing skills. Residents, including service-provider residents and staff of the project, identified unique learning opportunities this pilot project provided as a key motivator for their participation. The opportunities included a chance to develop new skills while improving and contributing existing skills in an effective and meaningful way.

"Well, the opportunity to be part of a very exciting pilot that's happening in our community. So, this is the first program of its kind that I'm aware of, in the area. To work with a great team of people in bringing that about, just the experience of learning as we go, learning together." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

"...So, yeah it's, there is a lot I mean, that and it's a way to use my gifts. If you're not using your gifts, then you can't be happy." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Social support. Social support was another facilitator of resident participation. The residents, project staff, and service-providers noted that working with a diverse team of people, positive team support, and strong community participation, which essentially pioneered the project, was an important motivator of their continued participation during the implementation process, especially when challenges and hurdles emerged. The quotes below from a service-provider and project staff demonstrate the high level of community engagement from the inception of the project and the joy of working with a diverse and passionate team.

"I'll tell you, I like the group of people with whom I am working. I just think there is a lot of talent and they're all very likable. I don't find one person in that group that we've been working with for a while difficult or challenging. Like, I think there are some

differences but I think we're able to talk pretty well. So, I like that. And I do think there is a lot of talent, like a lot of talent and goodwill in the project partners and that includes the residents. So, I think, you know, that's a really good thing. I like going out to the meetings even though, you know, you're going out at night and things like that, and it's still kind of a fun group to be a part of." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

"The good thing about this organization is that it really did start with community, people wanting to bring it into the community." (Staff, Jan. 2016)

Project hurdles as a facilitator for service-providers and staff. During the implementation evaluation, emerging project hurdles were identified by several residents that served as barriers to their participation. However, these hurdles did not serve as a barrier necessarily to service-providers and project staff but rather they posed a challenge to overcome. In fact, it appeared that challenges were anticipated by service-provider and project staff. The quotes below from two service-providers and one project staff clearly demonstrates the ways in which project hurdles served as facilitators and stimulating challenges to their participation. There are not any quotes from volunteers because project hurdles were not identified as a facilitator to their participation.

"Well, you see that's the puzzle! I don't mind. Like, that's - if everybody was doing it then it wouldn't be - I wouldn't be that interested. To me, the idea is to try to get beyond what the current situation is to make a better situation. So, if currently there is a whole bunch of schools around that are pretty much empty after 4pm and there are a whole bunch of kids that need stuff, and there are a whole bunch of organizations that are willing to do free stuff and they can't get together. That's a current situation than the actual process and problem is to figure out a creative way to move forward and I think

there are lots of people that want that same goal. And, it's somehow about thinking outside the box." (Staff, Jan. 2016)

"I would say that to be honest, our pace is a little bit slow. But again, or maybe it's because we are a very new project so we are more careful maybe, the management, top management is more careful about launching any activity that can- I mean, that can face any disaster so. Doing bit by bit, gradually increasing the number of activities by scale." (Staff, Jan. 2016)

"There are bumps along the way it's not always a smooth process but that's predictable because we're human beings. But I think we're making progress and it's coming together so I think it's moving in a good direction." (Service-provider, Jan .2016)

Optimism and project expansion. It should also be noted that although project challenges were identified during this early implementation evaluation, the majority of residents remained optimistic about the future outlook of the project and the ability to give back to their community. Residents, service-provider residents, and staff were also excited to participate in expanding the project within their local community. The excerpt below from a highly-engaged service-provider discusses the commitment of residents and future programming.

"The resident participation I feel like people are pretty committed so that's going along well and they've got good partnerships. So, yeah I'd like to see some really great programs going there that parents are going to say, and teachers are going to say in years to come, you know I can't imagine that we wouldn't be doing this. Something we really need to keep! It's that important." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Potential positive outcomes for children, families, and the community. Ultimately, the most common facilitator of resident participation during this implementation process was

potential positive outcomes it could have for children, families and the community as a whole.

Quotes from service-providers, volunteer residents, and project staff are written below in order to exemplify the commonality of this facilitator among all those involved.

"Well, I think it's a very exciting project to be a part of! So, I'm really looking forward to seeing where it goes and what the outcomes will be and the great impact that we can have through this work." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

"...And, I think really, I mean at the end of the day for me it would be more than that there, there are some positive outcomes for kids. I think that's really- would be the biggest thing for me." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"Um, I think the kids and the families. Cause I see there is a lot of needs in our area and unfortunately, like a lot of parents aren't involved. And, so if we can get them involved then that will help with their kids and brighten the kid's future a little. So, yeah that's the main thing. It's the families and the kids in the area." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"... Better Beginnings is a context in which really neat things can happen, really neat relationships can be struck up. People can be given dreams, and some people can have the hope restored. But that all is in the context as far as relationships, right? Mentoring and coaching and encouragement. And, so that's kind of how I think about it. So, Better Beginnings is a great program that will allow us to really invest in people." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"Well, I think just, I mean first of all having been involved in the beginning it's been really exciting to be part of it. I mean I've always felt excited about what I think [the project] is going to be able to help this community create in terms of what their goals are-for what they'd like to see for their community. So, I think just continuing to be part of

that. It's exciting and it's really neat to see it coming together. And to see so many people getting on board and feeling that they have a voice and their voice is heard and there is a place for them and it's going to make a difference for them, and their family, and their communities." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Research Question #3a: What are the barriers to resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the installation stage?

Partnerships. Issues of collaboration with project partners were one barrier that was identified by residents, service-providers, and project staff. These issues mainly surrounded a lack of effective partnership with the local school board, which has caused a major hurdle when trying to access space within the school for programming and building relationships with teachers. These findings were consistent with my observations and field notes of meetings and conversations throughout the implementation evaluation. Quotes from service-providers, volunteer residents, and project staff are written below in order to exemplify the commonality of this barrier among all those involved.

(Memo, May 2015, Jun. 2015, Aug. 2015, Sept. 2015, Oct. 2015, Nov. 2015, Dec., 2015) "...But, somehow it just, maybe I was naïve in thinking, 'here we are, we have this wonderful program with all these proven results. We have schools that are demonstrating a need for it, why wouldn't they just say let's make this work?' But it's not felt to me at all like a partnership...But at this stage of the game, I feel like, I feel like it's been really hard, for those of us who have been part of it, who enthusiastically embraced it, who saw the opportunity and the need - I think it's really been hard for some of us to keep energized on it. Because it just seems like every time we turn around, it's a problem." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"We had a really big hurdle with the school. Like, our key school that we wanted to be in - we couldn't be in. We couldn't do any afterschool activities. We couldn't have any events. We couldn't have engagement directly with parents because we had to go through teachers that wouldn't talk to us. So, that was with the job action. So, the teachers were on work-to-rule from June/end of May." (Volunteer, Jan 2016)

"With the project there has been a bunch of barriers. A lot of that has been around the school board, all of this thing with having enough space and getting permissions and getting permits to use the school. I think that's kind of thrown a bit of a monkey wrench in where there is just a lot of navigating and fancy footwork they have to do to get parents to come into the school. And, have places where they can operate the program."

(Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

"I do think it was hard coming in with the labour issues and the school board because we really haven't connected with people in the school. And, we do feel a bit like interlopers. Nobody really knows who the heck we are." (Staff, Jan. 2016)

Dynamics within the project team. Within the project team, issues of collaboration were identified more frequently by residents, both high and low participators, than by project staff and service-providers. These issues included poor communication, lack of team-building, and issues with power dynamics and decision-making. Quotes from volunteer residents only are written below describing the issues within the project team, including concerns regarding decision-making, accountability, and power dynamics. This finding was corroborated from memos regarding informal conversations throughout Sept. 2015 to Jan. 2016.

"Communication. I feel as grownups we should be better at communication and this is just being completely honest and I told [team member] this myself. Communication for some adults is very difficult. Sometimes the way they communicate, their fluidity of it." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"Right now when they all meet each other, it's kind of like (big sigh) there is a lot of frustration still. So, we're still in that storming. Everybody is mad at everybody, or misunderstanding, or not working in the same way so [they] don't understand what the next step is. People work best together when they can see- 'I understand what you're going to do next, so I know what I need to do next'. In this case, that isn't happening. And, that happens with more day-to-day contact. So, we're trying to work on ways that we can do that. It's going to be a rough 6 months I think." (Volunteer, month, 2016) "I think another challenge is the, you know volunteer-based, an organization where volunteers and community members are essential to its success. It's really hard then to build partnerships between the volunteers, and the parents, and the agencies that have to be involved, i.e. [local school board], which is a big agency or [local organization] which has its own guidelines and rules. And then who takes precedent, like, who's the boss? And I think all the way along, you have to wonder- who is the boss? Who has to call the shots? So, long-term it looks like, well, our board, advisory board or steering team of people have ability to call the shots but then all of a sudden administration takes over, or the Board takes over and no, we didn't call anything at all. We were just - so I think people on the steering team are wondering, what's their purpose?" (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Lack of clarity. Additionally, residents, both high and low participators, engaged in the implementation process clearly identified a lack of clarity surrounding the project as a major

barrier to their participation. The lack of clarity mainly involved project vision, roles and responsibilities, and programming. Service-providers and project staff did not identify this as a barrier to their participation as a result are not quoted below. The excerpts from volunteer residents illustrate the lack of clarity within the project. This finding was corroborated from memos regarding informal conversations and questions posed during meetings throughout Sept. 2015 to Jan. 2016.

"And, unfortunately I don't think the vision was mandated. I think we've had a bit of a dip and a sideways and around a backwards. I'm thinking that going forward now that's a little bit clearer. But it's going to take some time" (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"I guess the other part is, I don't have my hand on the button that I think is the solution. So, for example, and I'm not saying the Board discussions are the only issues here but that has been, somebody else is responsible for that but it's not my responsibility so I can't solve it, so." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"There has to be services. So, if you're going to run a program that they've given you money for, there's got to be a nucleus to that service. What is it? Everything has a- what is Planned Parenthood? What is anything? They all have core programs that they run that makes them who they are." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

In addition to lack of clarity surrounding project vision, roles and responsibilities, and programming, residents expressed a lack of clarity regarding accountability. The majority of residents were very aware and vocal during interviews about their role being unpaid and thus, found the emerging challenges within the team difficult to bear and were unaware of who was accountable for resolving issues. Four quotes from volunteer residents are written below to

illustrate the prevalence and magnitude lack of clarity regarding accountability is to resident participation.

"There is communication issues and there is often little things that come up multiple times and it makes you a little bit tired. So, and I mean when you're not a staff there is really nothing to keep you just from walking away, right?" (Volunteer, month, 2016) "And, I think I knew that it was important but I think it's not until you are really doing some things that you realize well actually I'm kind of doing something that a staff would do and I'm a volunteer. And, so it's a little bit, it's a little bit disconcerting that way, right?" (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"I don't really, I think I just kind of accept it for what it is. Like, I feel responsibility but I also know that I'm the volunteer. At the end of the day, I think I'm the volunteer and I think that's kind of how I think it through. Cause sometimes I think, you know, I was on [a committee]...But at the end of the day, I wasn't the only person there and they're hired to do a job right? So, I think I just kind of rationalize but sometimes I do kind of think, 'ah man, I don't really feel like doing that because I've done it already. I've already said it and I've already- right?' But yeah, I think at the end of the say you still kind of go, I'm a volunteer." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"And, that's the risk of having volunteers be part of that, right? Because I was a part of that and I'm only available when I'm available. It's not the same as somebody who is maybe paid to do it and they're part of all of those discussions and they cane share all that and that's part of that responsibility to share that with the group." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"I don't know what the plan is. Yeah and I mean I will be very honest with you, I'm not sure what the plan is! I'm not sure I completely understand what their- I think you should

ask them this question so we can all understand. I think you should ask everybody that's a paid or executive committee member." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Failed expectations. Another barrier was failed expectations of the project, identified by mainly residents regardless of level of involvement. These failed expectations included a lack of employment opportunities within the project for community members, a lack of available programming, and an overall slow project pace. Quotes below only exemplify the significance failed expectations has on volunteer residents. Service-providers and staff were not quoted because they did not identify this theme as a barrier. These findings were consistent with informal conversations with residents (Memo, Dec., 2015).

"I was really, really interested in the [project position] but it's been changed so much and you know, there is a position that is similar but it's university degree is wanted and stuff now. And, that part of it saddens me a little because I thought that it was going to give positions to people in the community. Not just me but other people. And when you stick university degrees on you're not going to get community members per se. So, that parts a little bit sad." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"Um, but I don't know I thought we'd be a lot further than we are but I think we, I think our expectations not knowing the politics that we were going to hit, you know, we were a little ahead of the game too I think." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"And, lack of programming. That would be the other. And I mean substantial program. I don't mean family nights. I mean substantial programming." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Furthermore, the barrier of failed expectations led to challenges when unpaid residents attempted to engage other community members to participate in the project. The lack of

available programming resulted in broken promises by some participating residents to other uninvolved community members, as well as a lack of visibility within the community. The quotes below from a volunteer resident clearly articulates the discouragement they experienced from failed expectations and broken promises regarding the implementation process of programming.

"It is discouraging because sometimes you don't even feel, like, you feel like you don't even want to say because like, you want to say like this program is going to be coming and we're going to do this but then you don't because it doesn't always happen. And, so you're, you don't want to...because I feel like it makes Better Beginnings look worse if I say, 'oh yes! We're going to get this' and its months later and we still don't have it. You know, so it's really, it's hard to promote it so I try to just do, 'you know, we're working on things. We're going to get things'" (It is discouraging because sometimes you don't even feel, like, you feel like you don't even want to say because like, you want to say like this program is going to be coming and we're going to do this but then you don't because it doesn't always happen. And, so you're, you don't want to...because I feel like it makes Better Beginnings look worse if I say, 'oh yes! We're going to get this' and its months later and we still don't have it. You know, so it's really, it's hard to promote it so I try to just do, 'you know, we're working on things. We're going to get things."" (Volunteer, Jan, 2016)

Additionally, difficulty reaching residents who do not visit the school grounds often, lack of the projects' visibility online, and language barriers were also identified as obstacles when attempting to engage community members by both paid and unpaid residents involved in the implementation process. The excerpt below is from an interview with a highly-engaged service-

provider who discusses the barriers of language and mobilization for residents with children. The individual also offers some solutions in her response.

"Um, I think, well I mean language is sometimes a barrier. And, that can create some challenges with communication but it can also can create with some challenges with confidence. So, a person doesn't necessarily feel that they would have, be able to contribute in the way that they'd like to if they spoke English as their first language. So, that's something that we try to see if we can maybe connect somebody with a neighbour who speaks their first language to help with some translation and so forth. And, also just to assure people that they don't need to contribute in any particular way. Just attending a program with their child or on their own is fine. To whatever degree they can participate is fine. So, language is one. I think we have some residents who have a large number of children and so. And, children at home as well. So, sometimes they don't necessarily feel they are as mobile as they'd like to be with children through teens. But, that's part of life and I think when they've got a family support worker that's hired that's going to be another area that people can feel supported." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Lack of available time. Finally, personal barriers such as time and family responsibilities were described by all participating individuals in project, despite their level of involvement during the implementation process. The quotes below from a service-provider and volunteer resident demonstrate the barrier of lack of available time to participate due to other responsibilities and employment.

"I know there is a lot of community events, family events, those kind of things and I've tended not to go to those. Mainly because my time (laughing) is you know, I just don't

have time to go to that many things. And, things happening in other communities as well that I work with, with the cities. So, kind of have to pick and choose where I participate." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

"It was time. I mean, they were all during the day and I just, I mean my work schedule doesn't allow me to take so much time off anymore." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Research Question #4a: What are the outcomes of resident participation for the most involved and less involved residents during the installation stage?

Personal: Commitment. Despite facing barriers, it was evident there was a high level of personal investment and commitment in the community project from residents.

"Um, well see now we're kind of at the point where we invested quite a bit of time into it and I didn't think...- I think you kind of develop a little bit of a sense of responsibility especially if you're on the hiring team or committee. Then you start to feel like well, something, it needs, it kind of needs to succeed. I guess the responsibility is shared right? Whereas if you're not involved it's somebody else's responsibility but once you're involved then you start to feel like you've got an investment." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Personal: Improve skills, personal growth, and social connections. The findings show that residents participating in the implementation of this community-driven project were able to improve skills and embrace new opportunities, experience personal growth and fulfillment, and make social connections from working with a diverse team of people.

"So, going to do my [degree] and focusing on- a lot of things I focus on I think, 'okay, how can I use it corporately but how can we also apply that to non-profit because it's really competitive now. It's really, you know, money is scarce, just like in corporate. So,

that to me has been kind of a good learning to think, okay I got to open up how I think about all of that." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"... I was struggling with what I was doing at work. So, you'll find when you're not fulfilled at work you find other ways to fulfill your purpose in life. So, I was just trying to build on the gifts that I got, use them where I can." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

"Some of it's you know, just adult interaction. Well, really I mean I have lots of friends but they all work most of the day. So, it's great. And it's a different- I also like it, it's kind of a different community than my social community, which I think is interesting.

Like, just, it's kind of like my involvement with Sunnydale Center it's a just a whole other group of people which is really interesting. It kind of just opens your perspective, right? Maybe you can learn something different." (Volunteer, Jan. 2016)

Project. Additionally, resident participation also produced outcomes for the community-driven project itself. Engaged residents, service-providers, and project staff were able to establish strong community partners for the project as well as secure committed residents to continue aiding in the implementation process.

"So, I think otherwise the partners are pretty good. Like, the [community partner] I think is a very good choice as a sponsor organization. It's a respected organization but it lines up in terms of its values pretty well and they have an infrastructure for support. So, I think it's better to have one of these smaller non-profits than to, say, have the school board as the, the sponsor. Like, I know at [community-development project] that just never worked out very well. They switched and they went with a children's mental health agency and I think it worked a lot better with them. They just avoided a lot of bureaucracy." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

Community. Finally, the outcomes for the community were identified in the findings.

Residents, service-providers, and staff identified several positive impacts resident participation has had on the community thus far. Volunteer opportunities for community members, engagement of residents, and employment were identified as some positive community impacts.

"I keep hearing stories about people finding resources by talking to the BB staff. I heard some more stories just yesterday about that in fact. I heard a couple of women from this community finding work because of some links that one of the staff people was able to make for them, or information they were able to provide. And, that's sort of a side benefit. That's not the main purpose of the project but we're here to resource people and support them in whatever ways that they need." (Service-provider, Jan. 2016)

"I think volunteer opportunities actually. And, even I've been hearing about a number of youth being involved in family fun nights and different activities and events. And, it's a chance for them to contribute and I guess, it probably qualifies for their volunteer hours for high school graduation. But even, you know, building skills for them, building confidence, helping them connect with other people in the community. So, the volunteer opportunities are a big piece of the project as well. Because it uses a lot of volunteers." (Service-Provider, Jan. 2016)

"So, we help out with the breakfast club as well and we're hoping to- we have recruited parents already and we've recruited parents for the schools councils too. So, were kind of like- is that a program? Volunteer recruitment, I guess, it really is for school-based activities." (Staff, Jan. 2016)

### Comparing Findings by Implementation Stages, Levels of Engagement and Status

The findings noted several themes regarding the activities individuals participated in, as well as barriers and facilitators to their participation. Some of these themes, however, varied by implementation stage, level of engagement and status in the project. For example, those highly-engaged held more responsibility than those less engaged, however, highly-engaged service-providers, project staff, and less involved residents expressed a desire to increase their levels of responsibility in the project, while highly-engaged residents noted wanting to reduce their project responsibility. Additionally, residents only, regardless of their level of involvement in the project, identified project hurdles, clarity, team dynamics and failed expectations as barriers to their participation. On the contrary, service-providers and project staff did not identify these themes as barriers to their participation and in fact noted project hurdles as a facilitator of participation. Table 2 below illustrates the key findings when comparing themes found by implementation stage, level of engagement and project status.

Table 2: Comparison of Resident Participation by Implementation Stages, Level of Engagement and Status in the project

#### Legend

Symbol	Meaning
۸۱	Greater levels
VI	Lower levels
+	Increase
-	Decrease
<b>↑</b>	Facilitator

$\downarrow$	Barrier

Comparison	Highly- engaged Service Providers	Highly- engaged Residents	Less-engaged Residents	Less-engaged Project Staff
Differed by level of engagement	≥ Responsibility	≥ Responsibility	≤ Responsibility	≤ Responsibility
Differed by level of engagement, status and implementation stage	+ Future activities	- Future activities and responsibility	+ Future activities	+ Future activities
Differed by status and implementation stage	↑ Project hurdles (e.g., partnerships, team dynamics)	<ul><li>✓ Project hurdles</li></ul>		↑ Project hurdles
Differed by status and implementation stage		<b>↓</b> Clarity	<b>↓</b> Clarity	
Differed by status and implementation stage			↓ Team dynamics	
Differed by status and implementation stage				
Experienced by residents only		Similar Outcomes		
Experienced by residents, service-providers and staff	Engaged in tasks related to project support			
Experienced by residents, service-providers and staff	Frustrations with rules and regulations of local school board			
Experienced by residents, service-providers and staff	Lack of available time as a barrier			

## Research Question #1b. Did activities vary by degree of involvement and/or implementation stage?

Activities residents participated in did vary by level of engagement and implementation stage. Residents and service-providers most involved in the community-based initiated project occupied more leadership roles during the exploration stage than those less involved. The highly-engaged residents and service-providers participated generally in the same activities. However, some took on specific roles unique to their skills and expertise (e.g., conducting educational workshops, leading development of business case). Residents and service-providers identified as most involved also took on more roles and responsibilities during the exploration stage and continued them during the installation stage than those less involved. In comparison those less-involved assisted when asked and provided support within their capacity. Residents less involved desired more hands-on participation and held less expertise in the logistical aspects of project planning (e.g. proposal development, completing grant applications, etc.). All of those involved during the exploration, both highly involved residents and service-providers, and less involved residents, sat on the steering committee.

Additionally, engagement in activities and level of responsibility also varied by the status of the individual involved. Highly-engaged residents who participated in many activities, occupied several roles and held high levels of responsibility during the exploration stage expressed a desire to reduce their involvement during the installation stage as project staff were hired. On the contrary, highly-engaged service-providers who participated on a similar level during the exploration stage did not express a desire to reduce involvement. Furthermore, during the installation stage, less-involved residents and project staff, and highly-engaged service-

providers expressed a desire to become more involved in project tasks in the future and possibly attain more responsibility.

Research Question #2b. Did facilitators vary by degree of involvement and/or implementation stage?

The majority of facilitators of resident participation was experienced by all those involved, regardless of level of engagement. However, the experience and impacts of project hurdles (e.g., issues with partnerships and team dynamics), differed by status of the individuals and implementation stages. During the exploration stage, highly-engaged service-providers and residents worked through project hurdles together until the goal of acquiring funding was reached. As the project progressed into the installation stage, project hurdles were viewed differently by residents than by service-providers and staff, regardless of level of engagement. The residents viewed project hurdles as a barrier to resident participation that caused frustration and failed expectations. On the contrary, project hurdles were viewed as a facilitator to service-providers and project staff as they were motivated to work through the challenge of the hurdles.

Research Question #3b. Did barriers vary by degree of involvement and/or implementation stage?

Barriers to resident participation did not vary greatly by degree of involvement but did differ by status of individual participating in the project and implementation stage. During the exploration stage, similar barriers were experienced by residents and service-providers, regardless of their level of engagement. During the installation stage, however, residents, both highly and less-engaged, experienced many barriers than were not noted by service-providers and project staff. Residents identified project hurdles, lack of clarity, team dynamics and failed

expectations as barriers to their participation. On the contrary, service-providers and project staff did not identify these challenges as barriers.

## Research Question #4b. Did outcomes vary by degree of involvement or implementation stage?

Finally, similar personal outcomes were experienced by residents regardless of their degree of involvement implementation stage. Additionally, similar project and community outcomes were identified by residents of high and low engagement as well as service-providers, and project staff.

#### **Discussion**

The purpose of this early implementation evaluation was to assess the activities of both highly involved and less involved residents during the early stages of the implementation process of a community-driven project in their local community. The study also aimed to understand the facilitators, barriers and outcomes of this participation. The discussion of this implementation evaluation is organized by research objective.

# Objective A. To understand the types of activities in which residents participated in the exploration and installation stages

The community-driven project in the local context involved resident participation from the outset of the implementation process. In fact, it was community members and volunteering local service-providers who identified community needs, created a vision, and successfully completed proposal applications and business cases to acquire four-year funding. In accordance with previous research, there was a small group of residents who were more involved in the bulk of activities of the project than other residents (Statistics Canada, 2012). These highly-engaged

individuals led many of the tasks, (e.g., business case, grant application, etc.), received education and training, and often participated on more than one committee. For many of these individuals, the highlight of the project thus far was the poignant accomplishment of successfully acquiring funding which was a direct result of their hard work. These individuals continued to remain involved as the project progressed from the exploration to the installation stage, completing most steps in accordance with the Adapted Stages of Implementation Completion (ASIC) Diagnostic Tool (See Appendix D).

These highly-engaged residents and service-providers also showed a high level of commitment to the project, likely due to prolonged engagement and high level of physical and emotional investment in it (Cameron et al., 1994; Pancer & Cameron, 1994). In accordance with previous research, higher levels of engagement may also result in more physical, mental and emotional exhaustion resulting in greater levels of psychological stress than those less involved (Allen & Mueller, 2013; Pines & Aronson, 1988). As the project entered the installation stage and full-time staff were hired, those highly engaged, but unpaid volunteers expressed the desire to reduce their level of commitment and engagement with the project, noting frustration and emotional exhaustion surrounding recurrent road blocks (e.g., accessing school space). It is possible that the reason highly engaged residents were expressing desires to reduce their involvement could be a result of volunteer burnout, which commonly occurs in community-driven projects (Cameron et al., 1994; Pancer & Cameron, 1994).

## Objective B. To understand the facilitators and barriers to resident participation in the exploration and installation stages

The facilitators of resident participation aligned with previous research findings throughout the different implementation stages, regardless of level of involvement in the project.

Residents, service-providers and project staff showed a genuine interest in the quality of life for residents living in the community (Statistics Canada, 2012). Additionally, residents were motivated to participate when asked and enjoyed the interpersonal relationships that emerged from their involvement (Statistics Canada, 2012). In addition to the facilitators of resident participation, this implementation evaluation discovered some barriers as well.

Challenges during the implementation process of community-development prevention programs are often inevitable (Metz & Bartley, 2012). As stated in the literature review, evaluations during the early stages of implementation allow for identification of these emerging issues and the applications of solutions in order to enhance program fidelity, effectiveness and sustainability. Thus, in accordance with previous research, some barriers to resident participation during the implementation process of this project were identified. The findings showed that many barriers experienced by highly-engaged residents and service-providers were similar during the exploration stage. The similarity could be a result of both residents and service-providers engaging in the same activities during this stage and thus experiencing the same challenges and frustration. Findings did show, however, that those less involved experienced a greater frustration with the lack of hands-on participation (e.g., programs and events) during the exploration stage. This finding is consistent with previous research examining resident participation in community-initiated projects (Cameron et al., 1994). It is recommended resident engagement should vary by implementation stage in order to avoid premature outreach.

The inclusion of a broad range of resident participation is required in order to maintain program fidelity, project success, and program sustainability. However, the findings of this implementation evaluation suggest that to avoid failed expectations among residents and high turnover rates during the inception of the project, premature outreach should be avoided and

residents should be phased in as the project progresses through the different implementation stage. During the exploration stage, a small number of highly committed residents and serviceproviders are required to lead project tasks and planning. A small number of less involved residents and service-providers should also be included in order to lend support and assistance when needed. This structure will allow for a small team of skilled residents to complete the required tasks in an organized manner, while alleviating volunteer burnout and high turnover rates, which often occurs (Cameron et al., 1994; Pancer & Cameron, 1994; Pines & Aronson, 1988). During the exploration stage, community residents uninvolved and/or uninterested in project planning and logistical tasks, can become engaged by leading and assisting with community-wide events to raise awareness about project efforts and progress. This can reduce the barrier of a lack of "hands-on" events during the initial exploration stage and encourage participation from a broad range of residents. Furthermore, a larger number of residents becoming involved in the project from the outset, even low levels of participation, can help to create a deep commitment to the project as it progress, enhance socialization, community awareness, and reduce potential apprehension when working with professionals, such as serviceproviders and staff (Cameron et al., 1994; Pancer & Cameron, 1994). Due to previous prevention program research examining resident participation once the implementation process is well underway, it is not known whether this mosaic of varying degrees of resident participation is beneficial to community-based initiated project. Further research of this suggested framework is recommended.

Additional barriers discovered in this implementation evaluation were experienced solely by residents, regardless of their level of involvement, and not by service-providers and project staff (e.g., lack of clarity surrounding roles, responsibilities and expectations, and team

dynamics). It is possible that the different perceptions of project challenges may be a result of varying levels of expertise with community-based initiated projects. The barrier of team dynamics being noted solely by residents may be a result of the experience and thus expectations held by service-providers and project staff when working with a team of community members, partners and professionals while implementing a community-based project. It is also possible that service-providers and project staff may work more closely with one another because they are employees of similar organizations, thus meet more frequently and build rapport with one another.

Additionally, the barrier of failed expectations was also noted solely by residents, causing frustration and, at times, inhibiting community outreach. Failed expectations involved the partnership with the local school board, the timeline of the project, and rapport within the project team. Frustration resulting from failed expectations is not uncommon and has been noted in previous research (Hayward et al., 2011). The majority of service-providers and project staff did not seem completely aware that some of the residents were viewing these same obstacles as major hurdles that had them questioning their role and commitment in the project. It is possible that the service-providers and project staff involved in this project held more expertise about the implementation process of community-based projects and thus expected many of the emerging challenges (e.g., failed expectations, team dynamics). As a result of their anticipation, challenges may have been viewed as inevitable rather than a shock and major hurdle. Moreover, the obstacles may have been perceived as a motivator among paid service-providers and project staff due to their sense of accountability to resolve issues, which is aligned with their employment responsibilities. Additionally, their employment contracts clearly listed the unique role of service-providers and project providing a clear understanding of their responsibilities and

expectations. It is possible that the lack of clarity identified by residents resulted from not having such clear guidelines about the project and their role.

Some residents reported feeling unsure about their specific role in the project as the implementation process progressed from the exploration to the installation stage. The lack of clarity surrounding roles and responsibilities also effected individuals understanding of what to expect from others, specifically in terms of problem-solving and decision-making. This role ambiguity did not seem to be experienced by service-providers and project staff. As a result of this project being initially pioneered by highly engaged volunteer community residents, it is important that these individuals, as well as less involved residents, have a clear understanding of their role and responsibilities in the project in order to be able to contribute in a meaningful manner, especially as the project progress and more staff are hired. As Durlak and DuPre (2008) expressed, shared decision-making, including community participation and collaboration, enhances the implementation process of community-driven project. Therefore, feelings of inadequate contributions and lack of clarity surrounding new roles, coupled with a weak relationship with new staff, may play a part in feelings of frustration among unpaid highly involved residents. Additionally, providing continuous training and education surrounding not only the specific project at hand but also the process of implementation may help to reduce failed expectations and build anticipation for challenges for those involved.

Finally, the barrier of clarity extended beyond project roles and responsibilities of residents and appeared to effect comprehension of the project itself and the implementation plan. Although there was a general understanding of the project model, specifically the ecological nature of the project and potential outcomes, there was a lack of clarity among residents on exactly what the project meant in the local context. In other words, although residents

understood and could recite the textbook definition of the project model, there was a lack of clarity generated by the dearth of visibility of the project in the community (e.g., programming, information, and visibility on social media) and clear understanding of the implementation timeline. This lack of clarity served as a barrier when community members were attempting to engage other community members in the project. Without a clear practical definition and accessible programs, it was difficult for community members to explain the project to fellow community members. Some reported that they were hesitant to explain the project to others in fear of being asked questions they could not answer, or making promises they were not sure they could keep. The lack of clarity surrounding the project and timeline is not unexpected during the early planning stages of implementation (Metz & Bartley, 2012). It is important that residents are fully informed of the project planning, expectations of implementation stages, and are provided with available resources to engage other community members.

# Objective C. To understand the impacts of resident participation during exploration and installation stages on the individual residents, the project, and the community.

The outcomes of resident participation was similar for all involved participators across the implementation stages, regardless of level of involvement, and was aligned with previous research regarding resident participation (Casey, 2014; Hayward et al., 2011; Metz & Bartley, 2006; Pancer & Cameron, 1994). The outcomes for the project and community were also aligned with previous research findings (Levy, Itzhaky, Zanbar, & Schwartz, 2012; Ohmer, 2007; Peters et al., 2010).

#### Limitations

The limitations of this study align with common limitations associated with conducting action research with community-driven projects. Initially, the study intended to involve six

highly-engaged residents and service-providers who were involved in the project since the inception. Unfortunately, due to prior commitments, one individual was unable to attend the focus group or participate in an individual interview. Additionally, the study proposed to conduct one focus group with all five individuals who were highly involved in the exploration stage of this project. However, due to time and scheduling residents were not able to meet at once and instead two focus group dates were created. As a result of this limitation, findings may not have discovered some important relationship factors that may have been revealed in an interactive focus group. It appears that conducting two focus groups allowed each resident more time to speak and reminisce on past involvement in the project as well as how far the project has progressed since the inception.

# **Knowledge Transfer**

Findings from this study of the early implementation evaluation of the Better Beginnings project in Southwestern, Ontario sites will be communicated into three different formats in addition to this thesis document. One will report the findings in a manuscript for peer-review by an academic journal, which will be approximately 25 pages. Next, the report will be reduced to a short summary, approximately 10 to 15 pages, including a two-page executive summary, highlighting the main findings in an accessible and user-friendly format. The short summary and executive summary will also be uploaded to the Enriching Communities website in order for all community members to access the information. A presentation will also be given to the steering team and community reporting the findings of the study and thanking them for their participation in this early implementation evaluation.

#### **Implications**

The early implementation evaluation conducted in this study has revealed the importance of understanding the nature of resident participation in a community-driven project. The findings of this evaluation were able to produce key recommendations for enhancing resident participation in community-driven projects during the exploration and installation stages of implementation. These recommendations are listed below.

- 1. Clarity. It is important that residents have a clear understanding of the project implementation plan and timeline, the mission and vision, and their roles and responsibilities. A greater comprehension of the project timeline will reduce failed expectations and provide and more realistic foresight of the project plan. Additionally, awareness of the project mission and vision will enhance resident's ability to promote the project in their local community, and engage in community outreach. Finally, a clear understanding of their specific role will increase resident's accountability to the project and enhance collaboration.
- 2. Partnership. There is a need for clear understanding of the partnership between the project and community organizations during the exploration and installation stage of implementation. Roles and responsibilities of each partner should be clearly defined and written in an agreement.
- 3. Team-building. Team-building is a key component when implementing a community-driven project. It is important to build rapport among community members, volunteers, and staff of the project. Creating a strong community within the project team will enhance communication, social support, and build deeper connections among participating residents. Emerging issues can also be addressed and resolved quicker

when residents feel the team environment is a safe place and trust their fellow team members. It is also important that team-building activities occur when new staff and volunteers are brought into the project team.

- **4. Protocols when transitioning into roles.** Clearly defined protocols should be included in the policy handbook regarding transitioning into new roles. Key tasks should be defined (e.g., education and training, meeting with residents who previously held position, etc.) and followed.
- **5. Avoiding premature outreach.** Providing meaningful opportunities for those who may be uninterested in participating in logistical tasks and activities during the exploration stage, such as leading and assisting with community events, can increase resident participation during the initial project planning stage while reducing feelings of apprehension among community members when working with professionals on technical tasks.

The findings of this study and recommendations can provide learnings when implementing community-driven projects in other contexts. The lesson learned from this evaluation can help other residents anticipate and avoid certain barriers while enhancing facilitators when handling resident participation. Further research should assess the relationship between paid service-providers and project staff and unpaid volunteers when implementing a community-driven project. This research can help to reduce barriers, such as issues of power dynamics, collaboration and communication. Finally, this early implementation evaluation revealed the importance of understanding resident participation during the often missed planning stages of a project to allow for residents to voice their opinion, identify challenges, and solutions to be applied quicker; improving overall project progression and outcomes.

## **Appendices**

# **Appendix A: Exploration Stage Focus Group Guide**

I have three broad themes to discuss: Project Development, Participation and Activities, and Outcomes.

# **Project Development**

- 1. How did the project begin?
- 2. What teams were developed and what were their goals?
- 3. What restricted (or blocked) progress to the goal?
- 4. What motivated teams to keep aiming for goal?

# **Participation & Activities**

- 5. How did you become involved?
- 6. What activities did you participate in personally?
- 7. What activities may have been missed? Why?
- 8. What restricted or blocked progress to the goal individually?

#### **Outcomes**

- 9. What is in it for you?
- 10. How, if at all, has the project benefited from your participation?
- 11. What impact do you think the project has had on the community?
- 12. Can you tell me what's not working?

#### Conclusion

13. Thinking back to your participation in the Enriching Communities project, what is your favourite or most memorable memories?

## **Appendix B: Installation Stage Interview Guide**

I have three broad themes to discuss: the Project, Participation and Activities, and Outcomes.

#### **Project**

- 1. How did you first hear about Better Beginnings in Southwestern, Ontario?
- 2. What were your initial thoughts of the project?
- 3. If someone were to ask you, what is Better Beginnings, what would you say?

#### **Participation & Activities**

- 4. When and how did you become involved in this project? Why?
- 5. What were your expectations of your participation? (goals)
- 6. What activities did you participate in personally? What did you not participate in but would have liked to?
- 7. What restricted or blocked your ability to participate?
- 8. What motivates you to continue participating?

#### **Outcomes**

- 9. What is in it for you?
- 10. Has your expectation for your participation been met? If so, how?
- 11. How, if at all, has the project benefited from your participation?
- 12. What impact do you think the project has had on the community?
- 13. What are barriers to engaging other residents to participate?
- 14. What's not working for the community? Recommendations?
- 15. What's not working for you?

#### Conclusion

- 16. Anything missed?
- 17. What does your future involvement in Better Beginnings look like (e.g. in a year from now)?
- 18. What is your favourite or most memorable memory of your time in Better Beginnings?

# **Appendix C: Field Note Observation Guide**

Date:
Location:
Objective of meeting/interaction:
Observation:
Personal Reflection:
Potential Theme:

# Appendix D: Adapted Stages of Implementation Completion (ASIC) Diagnostic Tool

ASIC: Monitors progress through implementation project by assessing time it takes to complete each stage, activities that are skipped, and intended activities verse actual implemented activities.

Stage	Name of Stage	Activity	Date of Activity	Involvement
1	Exploration Stage (Metz & Bartley, 2012)	1. Assess Needs	☐ Park bench activity	Community leader, residents
		2. Interest indicated from community	☐ Date of first community meeting	Community leader, residents
		3. Agreement to consider implementation	☐ Date of agreement	Community leader, residents
		4. Examine innovations	☐ First contact for pre-implementation planning	Community leaders, experts of BB, residents
		5. Examine implementation capacity	☐ Date implementation assessment was completed	Community leaders, experts of BB, residents
		6. Assess fit of informed services/ program availability	☐ First discussion of programs and fit with community	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents
		7. Agreement on innovation	□ Date of agreement	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents

Stage	Name of Stage	Activity	Date of Activity	Involvement
2	Installation Stage (Metz & Bartley, 2012)	8. Funding acquisition	☐ Grant proposal submitted	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents
		9. Clearly Establish Committees	<ul> <li>□ Each committee created</li> <li>□ Hire date of Project Co.</li> <li>□ Family Co.</li> <li>□ In-School Co.</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents
		10. Recruitment from community and local businesses	<ul> <li>□ First contact for physical space</li> <li>□ Service-providers/School hubs identified</li> <li>□ Date contract signed</li> <li>□ Community Plan Created</li> <li>□ Date office space first used</li> <li>□ First Newsletter</li> <li>□ First Brochure</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents
		11. Fidelity Components	<ul> <li>□ Define BB         Principles         </li> <li>□ Missions &amp;             Values Statement</li> <li>□ Short-term Goals</li> <li>□ Long-term Goals</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents

Stage	Name of Stage	Activity	Date of Activity	Involvement
		12. Planning Process	<ul> <li>□ Timeline         identified</li> <li>□ Roles identified</li> <li>□ Policy Handbook         completed</li> <li>□ Written         implementation         plan completed</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents, researchers
		13. Program planning	<ul><li>□ Programs identified</li><li>□ Program request approved</li></ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents, researchers
		14. Outcome Goals	Outcome goals clearly identified (e.g. quarterly/ annually goals for project, project coordinator, research, promotion, policy handbook) and documented	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents, researchers
		15. Staff Hired and Trained	☐ Staff Trained (project, family, in-school coordinator, community researcher) ☐ Committee members trained	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents

Stage	Name of Stage	Activity	Date of Activity	Involvement
3	Initial Implementation Stage (Metz & Bartley, 2012)	16. Programs	<ul> <li>Date first         program begins</li> <li>Date first         tracking system         is created</li> <li>Date first         tracking system         is used</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents, researchers
		17. Identify challenges	☐ Date first challenge identified	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents, researchers
		18. Identify solutions	<ul> <li>Date of first solution brainstorming session</li> <li>Date of first agreed upon solution</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents
		19. Apply solution	<ul> <li>□ Date first solution is applied</li> <li>□ Date of first fidelity check</li> <li>□ Date of first consultation with project experts regarding challenges</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents

Stage	Name of Stage	Activity	Date of Activity	Involvement
			☐ Date of first feedback session	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents, researchers
4	Full Implementation (Metz & Bartley, 2012)	21. Future funding secure	☐ Date funding is secured	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents
		22. Policy Handbook Redrafted to include new practices	<ul> <li>Date policy handbook is redrafted</li> <li>Date policy handbook is completed</li> <li>Date first hard copy is printed and binded</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents
		23. Implementation Evaluation completed	<ul> <li>□ Date implementation evaluation is complete</li> <li>□ Date findings are presented</li> </ul>	Community leaders, experts in program planning, residents, researchers

#### References

- Allen, J. & Mueller, S. (2013). The revolving door: A closer look at major factors in volunteer's intention to quit, *Journal of Community Psychology*, 41(2), 139-155.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (2005). Making human beings human. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.
- Casey, J. E. (2014). A personal journey of volunteerism. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie*Canadienne, 55(1), 34-37.
- Cameron, G., Peirson, L., & Pancer, S. M. (1994). Resident participation in the Better Beginnings, Better Futures prevention project: II. Factors that facilitate and hinder involvement. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*, *13*(2), 213-227.
- Chamberlain, P., Brown, CH., & Saldana, L. (2011). Observational measure of implementation progress in community based settings: the stages of implementation completion. *Implementation Science*, 6(6), 116.
- Christian, M. S., Evans, C. E. L., Nykjaer, C., Hancock, N., & Cade, J. E. (2014). Evaluation of the impact of a school gardening intervention on children's fruit and vegetable intake: A randomized controlled trial. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 11.
- Dorner, L., Howard, E., Slapac, A. & Matthews, K., (2014). The importance of improving implementation research for successful interventions and adaptions. *Journal of Prevention and Intervention in the Community*, 42, 315-321.
- Durlak, J. (1998). Why program implementation is important. *Journal of Prevention and Intervention in the Community*, 17(2), 5-18.

- Durlak, J. A., & DuPre, E. P. (2008). Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41(3-4), 327-350.
- Fixsen, D. L., Naoom, S. F., Blase, K. A., Friedman, R. M., & Wallace, F.
  (2005). *Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature*. Tampa, FL: University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, The National Implementation Research Network.
- Government of Ontario. (1990a). *Better Beginnings, Better Futures*: An integrated model of primary prevention of emotional and behavioural problems. Toronto, Ontario: Queen's Printer for Ontario.
- Government of Ontario. (1990b). "Better Beginnings, Better Futures" Project: Policy research demonstration project: Primary prevention. Request for Proposals: Research sites.

  Toronto, Ontario: Queen's Printer for Ontario.
- Hasford, J., Loomis, C., Nelson, G., & Pancer, S. M. (2013). Youth narratives on community experience and sense of community and their relation to participation in an early childhood development program. *Youth and Society*, 1-20.
- Hawe, P., Shiell, A., Riley, T., & Gold, L. (2004). Methods for exploring implementation variation and local context within a cluster randomised community intervention trial. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 58(9), 788–793.
- Hayward, K., Loomis, C., Nelson, G., Pancer, M., & Peters, R. DeV. (2011). A toolkit for building better beginnings and better futures. Kingston, ON: *Better Beginnings*, *Better Futures* Research Coordination Unit. Available online <a href="http://bbbf.ca/ToolkitVideosPDFs/tabid/628/language/en-US/Default.aspx">http://bbbf.ca/ToolkitVideosPDFs/tabid/628/language/en-US/Default.aspx</a>

- Kulbok, P. A., Meszaros, P. S., Bond, D. C., Thatcher, E., Park, E., Kimbrell, M., & Smith-Gregory, T. (2015). Youths as partners in a community participatory project for substance use prevention. Family & Community Health: The Journal of Health Promotion & Maintenance, 38(1), 3-11.
- Levy, D., Itzhaky, H., Zanbar, L., & Schwartz, C. (2012). Sense of cohesion among community activists engaging in volunteer activity, *Journal of Community Psychology*, 40(6), 735-746.
- Loomis, C. (2013, June 17). *Better Beginnings, Better Futures*: Building an effective, affordable community project for promoting positive child development. Invited presentation to Ontario Network *Better Beginnings, Better Futures* Conference, Regent Park, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Metz, A., & Bartley, L. (2012). Active implementation frameworks for program success: How to use implementation science to improve outcomes for children. *Zero to Three Journal*, 32(4), 11-18.
- Meyers, D., Durlak, J., & Wandersman, A. (2012). The quality implementation framework: A synthesis of critical steps in the implementation process. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 50, 462-480.
- Morgan, D.L. (2014). Pragmatism as a paradigm for social research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, (20)8, 1045-1053.
- Murphy, P., & Cunningham, J. (2003). Organizing for Community Controlled Development;

  Renewing Civil Society. Sage Publications: Thousand Oaks, CA. pp.3.
- Nelson, G., Pancer, S. M., Hayward, K., & Kelly, R. (2004). Partnerships and participation of community residents in health promotion and prevention: Experiences of the Highfield

- Community Enrichment project (*Better Beginnings, Better Futures*). *Journal of Health Psychology*, 9(2), 213-227.
- Nelson, G., & Prilleltensky, I. (Eds.). (2010). *Community psychology: In pursuit of liberation* and well-being (2<sup>nd</sup> Edition). New York: Palgrave.
- Pancer, S. M., & Cameron, G. (1994). Resident participation in the Better Beginnings, Better Futures prevention project: I. the impacts of involvement. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*, 13(2), 197-211.
- Pancer, S. M., Nelson, G., Hasford, J., & Loomis, C. (2013). The better beginnings, better futures project: Long-term parent, family, and community outcomes of a universal, comprehensive, community-based prevention approach for primary school children and their families. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 23(3), 187-205.
- Patton, M. (2002). *Utilization focused evaluation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Peters, R. D., Bradshaw, A. J., Petrunka, K., Nelson, G., Herry, Y., Craig, W. M. & Rossiter, M. D. (2010). The *Better Beginnings, Better Futures* project: Findings from grade 3 to grade 9. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 75(3), 100-120.
- Peters, R., Petrunka, K. & Arnold, R. (2003). The *Better Beginnings, Better Futures* Project: A universal, comprehensive, community-based prevention approach for primary school children and their families. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 32*(2), 215-227.
- Pines, A., & Aronson, E. (1988). Career burnout: Causes and cures. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Prochaska, J., & DiClemente, C. (1982). Transtheoretical therapy: Toward a more integrative model of change. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 19, 276-287.

- Ohmer, M. L. (2007). Citizen participation in neighborhood organizations and its relationship to volunteers' self- and collective efficacy and sense of community. *Social Work Research*, 31(2), 109-120.
- Reed, P.B., & Selbee, L.K. (2001). Volunteering and giving: A regional perspective. *Canadian Social Trends*. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 11-008. No. 63.
- Renger, R., Bartel, G. & Foltysova, J. (2013). The reciprocal relationship between implementation theory and program theory in assisting program design and decision-making. *The Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 28(1), 27-41.
- Shediac-Rizkallah, M. C., & Bone, L. R. (1998). Planning for the sustainability of community-based health programs: Conceptual frameworks and future directions for research, practice and policy. *Health Education Research*, *13*, 87–108.
- Statistics Canada. (2012). Canadian social trends: Volunteering in Canada, 2010 Census. (Catalogue number 11-008-X). Retrieved July 2, 2015 from Statistics Canada: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11638-eng.pdf
- Statistics Canada. (2015). Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the general social survey,

  Volunteering and charitable giving in Canada, 2013 Census. (Catalogue number 89-652-X2015001). Retrieved July 2, 2015 from Statistics Canada:

  <a href="http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2015001-eng.pdf">http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2015001-eng.pdf</a>
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1994). Grounded theory methodology. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 273-285). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

- Sundeen, R., Raskoff, S. & Garcia, C. (2007). Differences in perceived barriers to volunteering to formal organizations: Lack of time versus lack of interest. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 17(3), 279-300.
- To, T., Cicutto, L., Degani, N., McLimont, S., & Beyene, J. (2008). Can a community evidence-based asthma care program improve clinical outcomes? A longitudinal study. *Medical Care*, 46(12), 1257-1266.
- Tritter, J. Q., & McCallum, A. (2006). The snakes and ladders of user involvement: Moving beyond Arnstein. *Health Policy*, 76(2), 156-168.
- Wandersman, A. (1984). Citizen Participation. In Heller, K., Price, S., Reinharz, S. & Wandersman, A. (Eds.), *Psychology and community change* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., pp. 337-379). Homewood, IL: Dorsey.
- Webster-Stratton, C., & Taylor, T. (2001). Nipping early risk factors in the bud: Preventing substance abuse, delinquency, and violence in adolescence through interventions targeted at young children (0-8 years). *Prevention Science*, 2, 165-192.
- Worton, S. K., Caplan, R., Nelson, G., Pancer, S. M., Loomis, C., Peters, R. D., & Hayward, K. (2014). *Better Beginnings, Better Futures*: Theory, research, and knowledge transfer of a Community-based initiative for children and families. *Psychosocial Intervention*, 23(2), 135-143.